
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Chief Executive 
 

BOARD MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Councillor Susan Edge (Chairman) Labour 

Councillor Peter Lloyd Jones (Vice-
Chairman) 

Labour 

Councillor Dave Austin Liberal Democrat 

Councillor Chris Carlin Independent 

Councillor David Findon Conservative 

Councillor Margaret Horabin Labour 

Councillor Harry Howard Labour 

Councillor Andrew MacManus Labour 

Councillor Stan Parker Labour 

Councillor Joe Roberts Labour 

Councillor Christopher Rowe Liberal Democrat 

 
Please contact Michelle Simpson on 0151 471 7394 or e-mail 
michelle.simpson@halton.gov.uk  for further information. 
The next meeting of the Board is on Date Not Specified 
 

Employment, Learning, Skills and 
Community Policy and Performance 
Board 
 
Monday, 7 March 2011 at 6.30 p.m. 
Civic Suite, Town Hall, Runcorn 

Public Document Pack



 
ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH  

IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

Part l 
 
Item No. Page No. 
  
1. MINUTES 
 

 

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST (INCLUDING PARTY WHIP 
DECLARATIONS)  

  

 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
personal or personal and prejudicial interest which they have in 
any item of business on the agenda no later than when that item 
is reached and, with personal and prejudicial interests (subject 
to certain exceptions in the Code of Conduct for Members), to 
leave the meeting prior to discussion and voting on the item. 
  
 
 

 
 

3. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 

1 - 3 

4. EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES 
 

4 - 8 

5. SSP MINUTES 
 

9 - 15 

6. DEVELOPMENT OF POLICY ISSUES 
 

 

 (A) PRESENTATION - CONSTRUCTION HALTON   
 

16 - 24 

 (B) PRESENTATION - PROCUREMENT ACTIVITIES   
 

 

  A presentation will be provided outlining procurement 
activities. 
 

 
 

 (C) HALTON CHILD & FAMILY POVERTY STRATEGY 2011-
2013   

 

25 - 104 

 (D) UPDATE ON ELS WORK PRIORITIES FOR THE NEXT 
FINANCIAL YEAR   

 

105 - 107 

7. PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 

 

 (A) QUARTER 3 MONITORING REPORTS   
 

108 - 142 

 
 



In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block. 



 
REPORT TO: Employment, Learning, Skills and Community  

Policy and Performance Board 
   
DATE: 7 March 2011  
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, Resources  
 
SUBJECT: Public Question Time 
 
WARD(s): Borough-wide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To consider any questions submitted by the Public in accordance with 

Standing Order 34(9).  
 
1.2 Details of any questions received will be circulated at the meeting. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDED: That any questions received be dealt with. 
 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Standing Order 34(9) states that Public Questions shall be dealt with as 

follows:- 
 

(i)  A total of 30 minutes will be allocated for dealing with questions 
from members of the public who are residents of the Borough, to 
ask questions at meetings of the Policy and Performance Boards.  

(ii)  Members of the public can ask questions on any matter relating to 
the agenda. 

(iii)  Members of the public can ask questions. Written notice of 
questions must be given by 4.00 pm on the working day prior to 
the date of the meeting to the Committee Services Manager. At 
any one meeting no person/organisation may submit more than 
one question. 

(iv)  One supplementary question (relating to the original question) may 
be asked by the questioner, which may or may not be answered at 
the meeting. 

(v) The Chair or proper officer may reject a question if it:- 

• Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a 
responsibility or which affects the Borough; 

• Is defamatory, frivolous, offensive, abusive or racist; 

• Is substantially the same as a question which has been put at 
a meeting of the Council in the past six months; or 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



• Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

(vi)  In the interests of natural justice, public questions cannot relate to 
a planning or licensing application or to any matter which is not 
dealt with in the public part of a meeting. 

(vii) The Chairperson will ask for people to indicate that they wish to 
ask a question. 

(viii) PLEASE NOTE that the maximum amount of time each 
questioner will be allowed is 3 minutes. 

(ix) If you do not receive a response at the meeting, a Council Officer 
will ask for your name and address and make sure that you 
receive a written response. 

 
 Please bear in mind that public question time lasts for a maximum 

of 30 minutes. To help in making the most of this opportunity to 
speak:- 

 

• Please keep your questions as concise as possible. 
 

• Please do not repeat or make statements on earlier questions as 
this reduces the time available for other issues to be raised.  

 

• Please note public question time is not intended for debate – 
issues raised will be responded to either at the meeting or in 
writing at a later date. 

 
4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None. 
 
5.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None.  
 
6.0  IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
6.1  Children and Young People in Halton  - none. 
 
6.2  Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton  - none. 
 
6.3  A Healthy Halton – none. 

  
6.4  A Safer Halton – none. 

 
6.5  Halton’s Urban Renewal – none. 

 
 
 

Page 2



7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

7.1 None. 
 
8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act. 
 
 

 

Page 3



REPORT TO: Employment, Learning, Skills and Community  
Policy and Performance Board 

   
DATE: 07 March 2011  
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive  
 
SUBJECT: Executive Board Minutes 
 
WARD(s): Boroughwide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The Minutes relating to the Community Portfolio which have been 

considered by the Executive Board and Executive Board Sub are 
attached at Appendix 1 for information. 

 
1.2 The Minutes are submitted to inform the Policy and Performance Board 

of decisions taken in their area. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Minutes be noted. 

 
3.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.1 None. 
 
4.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 None.  
 
5.0  IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
5.1  Children and Young People in Halton 

 
 None  

 
5.2  Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton 

 
 None  

 
5.3  A Healthy Halton 

 
 None 
  

5.4  A Safer Halton 
 
 None  
 

5.5  Halton’s Urban Renewal 

Agenda Item 4Page 4



  
 None 
 

6.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

6.1 None. 
 

7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

7.1 None. 
 
8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act. 
 
 
 

Page 5



APPENDIX 1 
 

 

Extract of Executive Board and Executive Board-Sub Minutes Relevant to 
the Employment, Learning and Skills Policy and Performance Board 
 

 

 
EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING HELD ON 27TH JANUARY 2011 
 
 
EXB88 SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AND 

THE  LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
The Board considered: 
 

(1) whether Members of the press and public should be excluded 
from the meeting of the Board during consideration of the 
following item of business in accordance with Sub-Section 4 of 
Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 because it was 
likely that, in view of the nature of the business to be considered, 
exempt information would be disclosed, being information defined 
in Section 100 (1) and paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972; and 

  
(2)  whether the disclosure of information was in the public interest, 

whether any relevant exemptions were applicable and whether, 
when applying the public interest test and exemptions, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed that in disclosing 
the information. 

 
 RESOLVED: That as, in all the circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information, members of the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the following item of business in accordance with Sub-
Section 4 of Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 because it is likely 
that, in view of the nature of the business, exempt information will be disclosed, 
being information defined in Section 100 (1) and paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
EXB89 CONNEXIONS UPDATE 
 
 The Board received a report of the Strategic Director, Children and 
Young People which provided an update on the current contractual 
arrangements between the six Greater Merseyside Local Authorities and 
Greater Merseyside Connexions Partnership, along with an outline of the 
national policy direction and the recommended approach for each of the 
Liverpool City Region authorities. 

 

Page 6



 
 RESOLVED: That  
  

1) the current position in response of the Connexions Service, 
including the contract deadlines be noted; 
 

    2) officers be authorised on behalf of the Council to continue to 
negotiate with Greater Merseyside Partnership in respect of the 
2011/2012 contact and service specification, together with the five 
Local Authority areas in the Liverpool City Region; 

 
  3) a further report be presented to the Board in March 2011  

providing details on the outcome of the contractual negotiations; 
and 

 
    4) officers be authorised to seek Counsel’s advice, as required, as 

set out in the report. 
 

EXECUTIVE BOARD SUB MEETING HELD ON 10TH FEBRUARY 2011 
 
ES73 ACCEPTANCE OF PANTOMIME TENDER FOR THE BRINDLEY 
 
 The Sub-Committee was advised that a tendering exercise was carried 
out to procure a seasonal pantomime for the Brindley for a period of up to three 
years. Following a selection process only two companies declared their intention 
to tender. These were Pele Productions Limited and New Pantomime 
Productions Limited. Both companies were suitable and were invited to tender.  
 
 RESOLVED: That the acceptance of the pantomime tender from Pele 
Productions Limited of £258,900 for a period of three years be noted. 
 
ES74 HALTON BASEBALL CLUB 
 
 The Sub-Committee considered a request from Halton Baseball Club for 
a long term lease on their current playing venue at Halton Sports. The Halton 
Baseball Club had an opportunity to further develop with Baseball Softball UK 
(BSUK) indicating their plans to create a new centre of excellence in the North 
and had identified Halton as a possible location. If this were to happen BSUK 
would grant fund development of the site up to £100k, with extra funding also 
being available from the Football Foundation Dual Sports Grants. 
 
 However, since the publication of the report, the Council had been 
advised that BSUK had experienced a reduction in funding from Central 
Government and the opportunity to develop a centre of excellence appeared to 
be on hold for the near future. 
 

Page 7



 RESOLVED: That Halton Baseball Club be advised that in light of the 
reduction in funding experienced by BSUK, the request for a long term lease at 
Halton Sports be declined. 
 

 
  
 
 

Page 8



REPORT TO: Employment Learning, Skills and Community 
Policy and Performance Board 

   
DATE: 7th March 2011 
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive  
 
SUBJECT: Specialist Strategic Partnership minutes 
 
WARD(s): Boroughwide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The Minutes relating to the Economic Development Portfolio which 

have been considered by the Specialist Strategic Partnership are 
attached at Appendix 1 for information. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Minutes be noted. 

 
 

3.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.1 None. 
 
4.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 None.  
 
5.0  IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
5.1  Children and Young People in Halton 

 
 None  

 
5.2  Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton 

 
 None  

 
5.3  A Healthy Halton 

 
 None 
  

5.4  A Safer Halton 
 
 None  
 

5.5  Halton’s Urban Renewal 
  
 None 

Agenda Item 5Page 9



 
6.0 RISK ANALYSIS 

 
6.1 None. 

 
7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

 
7.1 None. 
 
8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act. 
 
 
 

Page 10



 

 

 
ELS SSP Exec Meeting 
7

th
 February 2011 

Page 1 of 5 

 

 

 
Employment, Learning & Skills SSP                  

 
Minutes of Executive Group Meeting 

7th February 2011      

Room 2, Kingsway Learning Centre, Widnes      

Present:   Organisation: 
 Wesley Rourke      Economic Regeneration (HBC) 
 Nick Mannion   Strategic Policy & Partnership (HBC) 
 Kevin Smith       Riverside College Halton 
 Siobhan Saunders  Adult Learning & Skills (HBC) 
 Hitesh Patel   Halton CAB 
 Gerry Fitzpatrick  Enterprise & Employment (HBC) 
 Simon Clough   14-19 Partnership (HBC) 
 Cleo Pollard   Halton Parents & Carers 
 Colin Billingsley  Jobcentre Plus 
 Claire Bradbury  Halton YMCA  
 Diane Sproson  Connexions 
 Alan Graham   Communications & Marketing (HBC) 
 Cllr Susan Edge  Chair, ELS PPB, Halton Borough Council. 
            Cllr Eddie Jones  Portfolio Holder, Halton Borough Council 
  
1. Welcome/Apologies 

 
1.1 Wesley Rourke welcomed everyone to the meeting.   
 
1.2 Apologies received from: 
 
 Claire Tierney   External Funding (HBC) 
            Madeleine Hamadanian Adult Learning & Skills (HBC) 
            Sue Baxendale  Halton Housing Trust     
 David Gray   Welfare Rights (HBC) 
 Debbie Dalby   Halton & St Helens VCA 
            Helen Woollacott  Skills Funding Agency 
              
2. Declarations of Interest 
 

 There were no personal or pecuniary declarations. 
 

3. Minutes of last meeting and Matters arising     
                  

The Minutes of the last meeting were confirmed as accurate.  
 
There was only one matter arising not deal with elsewhere on today’s agenda: 
 

      4.2  SS advised that The Routeway is now ‘live’, and is located at;   www.sciencehalton.com . 
 

4.   Future Governance & Priorities for ELS SSP 
 

Page 11



 

 

 
ELS SSP Exec Meeting 
7

th
 February 2011 

Page 2 of 5 

4.1 NM outlined the discussion paper along with the key questions and issues set-out for consideration 
in it. 

 
4.2 WR then briefed the meeting on the key outcomes of the Halton Strategic Partnership Board 

development session that had taken place the previous week. 
 
4.3 A positive and wide-ranging discussion followed with contributions from all members. 
 
4.4 There is a general consensus that the primary task for the partnership now is to work on tightening 

our focus on identifying and responding to the challenges and opportunities, both externally and 
locally generated, over which we can exert a degree of strategic influence. 

 
4.5 Also, whilst the emerging sustainable community strategy will to a significant extent provide the 

framework within which we will operate over the coming years we also need to identify those 
‘components’ that are right for Halton – will future provision help to deliver on our strategic goals, 
or are there ‘gaps’ which need to be first identified and then a decision made on if and how to 
tackle them. 

 
4.6 We also need to make sure our work contributes to the overall aims of the SCS, and to the plans 

and strategies of our key partners, and vice versa.   
 
4.7 Need to look both over the immediate policy ‘horizon’ of the next year or so, and also laterally to 

the impact and opportunities of ELS-related activity in neighbouring areas. Examples quoted were 
the growing number of academies and to LCR LEP and Regional Growth Funded projects 
impacting upon Halton. 
 
WR to circulate the Skills Matrix produced in 2009(?) as a start point for a discussion about 
the group’s future skills and representation requirements. 
 
NM to arrange of an additional one-off workshop-type meeting in late March to  formulate 
concrete proposals on the future direction, membership and priorities of the Executive 
Group and the network of sub-groups..   

  

5. Sustainable Community Strategy ELS Development Programme, 2011- 2015. 
 

Agreed at the December meeting to circulate the draft development programme for any further 
comments which will be reported to this meeting. 
 
A small number of comments were received, all suggesting minor positive amendments. These 
were outlined by NM. 
 
Agreed that NM to circulate the updated programme to all members for a further week and 
to then liaise with chair on the incorporation of any responses into the draft to be 
considered by the next meeting of the HSPB on 2nd March 2011. 

 

6. Use of uncommitted WNF grant allocated to the ELS SSP for 2011/12 
 

WR introduced a report on outlining the process for the allocation of unallocated WNF grant 
between the respective SSP’s and how the £382,170 allocated to the ELS partnership has been in 
accordance with the evaluation exercise that started last September. Brief details in table;  
 

Project Title Allocation Description 

Enterprise & Business Starts 60 Provision of 10 ‘Kickstart’ pre-start-up courses at £1,000 
per course + offer of £500 start up grants to new business 
start-ups. The funding will provide 100 grants. 

Page 12



 

 

 
ELS SSP Exec Meeting 
7

th
 February 2011 

Page 3 of 5 

HEP 133 Brings together expertise from various learning and skills 
agencies. Engages with businesses at an early stage to 
ensure required skills set is in place. Works with 
employers, in particular in growing sectors, to understand 
future job types & skills requirements. Engages residents, 
in particular unemployed adults, in up-skilling them and 
making them job ready for working in that particular 
sector. 

Apprenticeships 129 Grants to organisations to support employment of an 
apprentice/additional apprentice. Each LCR authority is 
committed to offering grant of £3,000 to companies that 
participate in the Apprentice Programme. The funding 
sought would support up to additional 43 new 
apprenticeships in Halton. 

Graduate internships  16 Continued funding for public sector organisations to offer 
paid internships to returning Halton graduates. 
Programme will supports up to 20 internships. 

Pre-level 2 provision 44 Continue to commission and deliver Skills for Life and ICT 
learning opportunities to meet the needs of individuals, 
employers and community organisations.  The focus of 
the provision will be adult literacy, adult numeracy and IT 
courses with accreditation offered as part of the 
programmes.  Already an approved centre to offer adult 
literacy and numeracy national tests and IT qualifications.   

Total 382  

 
 
Query raised, asking if all the SSPs followed the process set-out. Also that that voluntary sector 
‘financial advice and support’ type activities have suffered particularly badly in the process. 
 
The allocation of the £382,170 of uncommitted WNF grant to the ELS SSP for use in 2011/12, 
and the conditions attached was noted.  
 
The distribution of the ELS allocation to the five projects listed in the report was agreed. 
Progress reports on each of the continuing projects, detailing activities and spend are to be 
brought to future meetings. 
 
Partners urged to provide every support to partners seeking replacement external funding 
for ongoing activities beyond March 2011. 

 
 A report on the work of the five projects is brought to future meetings. 
 
7. Sub-Group Updates 
 
7.1 Performance Group  
 
 DS drew the group’s attention to key points in the notes of the 19th January 2011meeting of the     
            ELS Performance Group circulated with the agenda. Stressed the important to have in place as  
            soon as possible a suitable set of performance indicators for April 2011 onwards in light of the  
            end of the LAA (Local Area Agreement) at  the end of March. 
 
            Suggested that an ‘End of Programme Review’ citing the examples of achievement and good   
            practice developed with the partnerships WNF allocation is produced.  
 
             NM to find out the position regarding a replacement performance management    
             framework/local indicator set and report back to a future meeting. 
 

Page 13



 

 

 
ELS SSP Exec Meeting 
7

th
 February 2011 

Page 4 of 5 

            Agreed that an (electronic) summary of the work of the wide range of work undertaken with   
            support from the WNF in Halton is supported. 
 
7.2 Enterprise 
 
 GF prepared a progress report on the Enterprise Board and Enterprising Halton Programme  
            activity as at 31st January 2011. This had been circulated with the agenda.  
 
            Concern that for the first time the latest data has indicated a majority of business ‘deaths' over                        
            ‘births’. However, new data collection methods should give a more accurate picture on         
             business start-ups. 
 
            Still some outstanding queries about the incoming New Enterprise Allowance (‘NEA’), one of which  
            is around what the terms of ‘low interest’ loans to new businesses will be in reality. 
 
            Report received.  
 .  
7.3       Employment 
 

Confirmed that Halton’s two Job Centres are to become part of a new Merseyside district with 
effect from 14th February 2011.  
 
CB will ensure there is appropriate continuity, and colleagues are kept informed of changes 
to  the local management structure and the contact details of key people. 
 

7.4       Skills 
 
 Notes of the Skills group meeting on 26th January 2011were circulated with the agenda. Key  
            points; 
 

• Update on Tesco recruitment supported by the HEP showed that of the 422 new jobs, 73% we 
offered to residents of Halton. 

• NEETS – positive news in that the Halton NEET figure for December 2010 was 9.2% against a 
figure of 10.3% for December 2009. A positive outcome during a difficult year for the local 
economy. 

• Apprenticeship figures are also healthy, with nearly 1 in 5 of our young people now been on an 
apprenticeship. 

 
            Report received  
 
8. Update on the Work Programme & Benefit changes. 
 
            CB delivered a detailed verbal update on the inter-related issues of impending changes to the  
            welfare benefits system, with a move towards a single benefit - Universal Credit, and the soon to  
            be launched Work Programme. 

 
The work programme will see fundamental changes, with JCP only being responsible for the initial 
period (around 6 months) of a claim, which will then migrate into the programme. There will also be 
a greater degree of compulsion and more stringent checks as part of the changes. 
 
Whilst we are now aware of the 16 external applicants wishing to deliver various elements of the 
programme, more details on local delivery arrangements and partners will emerge over the next 
few months. There is also likely to be much greater local flexibility that currently, both with regard 
to the remaining JCP functions, and the delivery of the programme.     

 

Page 14



 

 

 
ELS SSP Exec Meeting 
7

th
 February 2011 

Page 5 of 5 

            CB to bring further updates to future meetings.   
 
9.        Next meeting;  
 
           As indicated at item 4.7 an additional meeting is to be arranged for late March 2011.           

Page 15



1 

 
REPORT TO:  Employment, Learning, Skills and Community 

Policy and Performance Board  
     
DATE:  7 March 2011  
 
REPORTING OFFICER:  Strategic Director, Environment & Economy  
 
SUBJECT: Construction Halton 
 
WARDS:  Boroughwide  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To update members on the implementation of Construction Halton. 
 
1.2 To share the recruitment and training workflow model with members, 

that highlights the council departments and partner organisations that 
will be involved when undertaking procurement exercises and 
negotiating planning agreements, focused on achieving Construction 
Halton job and training outcomes. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 

i  That the report is received 
ii  That members comment on the progress to date 
iii  That members comment on the proposed recruitment and 

training workflow models 
 

3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Construction Halton project is focused on facilitating a range of 

measures to deliver community benefits from construction related work, 
in the form of employment, apprenticeships, training and work 
experience opportunities. 

 
3.2 The project is seeking to maximise the recruitment and training benefits 

arising from council contracts and the development control function, by 
embedding targeted recruitment and training obligation clauses in 
tenders and Section 106 planning agreements. 

 
3.3 Construction Halton is also assisting Halton based small and medium 

size enterprises (SMEs) to access opportunities arising from the new 
planned development activity in the area.   

 
 
 
4.0 PROGRESS UPDATE 
 

Agenda Item 6aPage 16



2 

4.1 Since the last report to the Board in November, 2010, significant 
progress has been made in a number of key priority areas. 
 
Skills Forecasting 

 
4.2 Options for purchasing a skills forecasting tool are currently being 

market tested.  The tool will provide forecasts of the skills required, eg 
bricklayers, electricians, glaziers etc, to deliver construction projects  
that will assist in the design of pre-employment training and recruitment 
programmes. Using the skills forecast as the baseline, the tool will also 
provide accurate forecasts of the subsequent training opportunities that 
will arise from construction projects, which can then be translated into 
obligation clauses that become part of the tender documents/Section 
106 planning agreement.  A demonstration of a commercial skills 
forecasting tool will be presented at the Board meeting. 

 
4.3 Obligation clauses commit the supplier/developer to deliver targeted 

recruitment and training outcomes as part of the overall 
procurement/planning agreement.  For example, clauses could refer to 
the number of apprenticeships that will be made available; the number 
of work experience weeks that will be provided or; the percentage of 
the contract value that will be spent locally etc. 

 
4.4 Comprehensive guidance on the drafting and application of obligation 

clauses in local authority contracts/Section 106 agreements is widely 
available and has been shared with key departments in the council. 

 
4.5 At the procurement/Section 106 negotiation stage, bidders and 

developers will be required not only to commit to targets, but will also 
be required to complete a method statement that describes how they 
would go about achieving the target. 

 
4.6 The skills forecasting tool will be utilised at specific stages of the 

procurement/planning agreement process, which is covered in 
paragraphs 5.1 to 5.7 of this report. 

 
Building Schools for the Future Programme (BSF) 

 
4.7 Following the appointment of the Halton Transformational Partnership 

(HTP) in December 2010, to deliver the revised BSF programme in 
Halton, work is now underway with council officers and members of the 
Halton Employment Partnership (HEP) to support HTP in achieving the 
key performance indicators (KPI’s) relating to employment, training and 
recycling the local pound.  The construction works will focus on Wade 
Deacon and The Grange schools. 

 
4.8 The local employment related KPI’s that HTP have undertaken to 

deliver are:- 
 

• 5 jobs 

Page 17



3 

• 10 apprenticeships 

• 19 weeks work experience 

• 17 days careers and learning input 

• 40% of contract value to be spent within the WA postcode area, 
plus a 5 mile radius 

 
4.9 In addition to any posts that HTP will be seeking to fill, all supply chain 

vacancies will be fed through Halton People into Jobs for job 
matching/assistance with selection etc. 

 
4.10 To assist local SMEs, a meet the buyer event has been scheduled on 

21 February. Businesses that match the trades HTP are seeking to 
appoint as part of their supply chain will be invited to attend for one to 
one interviews with HTP representatives. 
 
3MG/A5300 Link Road 
 

4.11 The council is proposing to enter into a Development Agreement with a 
private company whereby, in exchange for council owned land, the 
company will procure the necessary infrastructure for the works at their 
own cost. 

 

4.12 Subject to planning permission being granted, the works will comprise 
an 850,000 sq ft warehouse and associated offices; car parking; rail 
siding; and rail connection to the Liverpool branch of the West Coast 
Main Line. The highway connection to the 3MG site will be via the 
A5300/A562 roundabout. The development will include landscaping 
and a sustainable drainage system and utilities. 

 
4.13 A draft Development Agreement clause, that is seeking to secure a 

training commitment that would lead to 1 full time equivalent trainee for 
every £1m of contract value, is under consideration by the company.   

 
4.14 To assist the company, should it agree to include community benefit 

clauses when it tenders for the works, although it is under no obligation 
to do so, examples of targeted recruitment and training clauses and a 
sample method statement have been forwarded for their consideration. 

 
Mersey Gateway 

 
4.15 To ensure that the procurement process for the Mersey Gateway 

Project could proceed quickly, while waiting for the coalition 
government’s decision about funding support for the Project and the 
Planning Inspector’s report to be published, work continued on 
exploring ways in which social and community benefit obligation 
clauses can be integrated into the Mersey Gateway tender. 

 
4.16 The Mersey Gateway Procurement Manager has been briefed on the 

approach taken by the BSF team to securing community benefit 

Page 18



4 

employment KPI’s and is fully aware of the employment and training 
opportunities that the Mersey Gateway has the potential to deliver. 

 
4.17 The delayed decision on the funding of the Mersey Gateway Project 

means that the detailed drafting of community benefit obligation 
clauses will also be slightly delayed. 

 
4.18 The progress being made on Construction Halton will assist the Mersey 

Gateway procurement team, as it is expected that there will be a 
community benefit procurement model in place when the procurement 
process reaches the stage when decisions are being made about the 
nature and delivery of obligation  clauses to be included in the tender. 

 
Section 106 Planning Agreements 

 
4.19 A report presented to the Development Control Committee on 14 

February, 2011, illustrated how  planning agreements, negotiated 
under Section 106, offer the Council a significant opportunity to secure 
developer support for targeted recruitment and training initiatives, to 
assist in tackling the high levels of economic exclusion and 
worklessness in the Borough. 

 
4.20 Members were informed that the Council will be looking to negotiate 

planning obligations with developers and occupiers of major new job 
creating developments to secure initiatives and/or contributions 
towards the recruitment and training of local people. The training 
schemes should offer help particularly to disadvantaged groups so that 
they may obtain the necessary skills to increase their job opportunities. 

 
5.0 RECRUITMENT & TRAINING WORKFLOW MODEL 
 

5.1 Halton Borough Council is already committed, within the law, to 
maximising the recruitment and training benefits arising from 
procurement contracts and planning obligations, by including targeted 
recruitment and training obligation clauses in tenders and planning 
agreements. 

 
5.2 Contractors and developers will be expected to work with training and 

employment organisations in Halton to secure the resources that it 
needs to deliver these requirements.  

 
5.3 There is now a need to ensure that the strategic level commitment to 

the project is more widely understood, in order that the council 
departments and partners that will be involved in delivering 
Construction Halton fully understand their role and the anticipated 
contribution they will be making to achieve its outcomes. 

 

Page 19



5 

5.4 To illustrate the contributions by the council and the partners at 
different stages of the procurement and planning process, a workflow 
model has been developed that covers both council procurement and 
planning agreements, which will guide the flow of information, the 
actions to be taken and the contributions by council departments and 
partners at each stage of the process.  

 
5.5 Appendix I illustrates the Council Procurement/Construction Halton 

Workflow and Appendix II illustrates the Council Planning 
Agreements/Construction Halton Workflow. 

 
5.6 Both models are based on a three stage process.  Stage 1 describes 

the pre-procurement and pre-planning application phase. Stage 2 goes 
on to describe the procurement and the planning application phases 
and Stage 3 describes the implementation phase, when the training 
and employment plans, agreed at stage 2 in both models, are being 
delivered. 

 
5.7 The workflow models will be subject to further consultation within the 

council and the Halton Employment Partnership (HEP), before being 
finalised and adopted. 

 
6.0 NEXT STEPS 
 
6.1 Preparations for the handover of the project to the Adult Learning and 

Skills Division are being made, as the contract for the Construction 
Halton Project Manager expires at the end of March 2011. 

 
6.2 Further fine tuning of the delivery arrangements will be necessary after 

April 2011, to fit in with the new council structure. 
  
7.0 FINANCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 An allocation of uncommitted Working Neighbourhood Funding has 

been made to the Halton Employment Partnership that will enable the 
continuation of Construction Halton after March 2011.  

 
8.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
8.1  Children and Young People in Halton 
  Supports key objectives C and E. 

Ensuring children and young people are offered the opportunity to 
explore training and qualifications in the construction industry will put 
them in good stead to apply for future jobs in the sector.  

 
8.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton 
  Supports key objectives B and C. 

The scale of inactivity within areas of Halton, alongside significant 
construction activity and investment, reinforces the need to find more 

Page 20



6 

effective ways of ‘matching’ people currently excluded from the labour 
market to the jobs in the industry.   

 
8.3  A Healthy Halton 
  Supports key objective C. 

Construction Halton will assist placing hard to help groups currently 
disadvantaged in the labour market into employment and training 
opportunities 

 
8.4  A Safer Halton 
  None applicable 
 
8.5  Halton’s Urban Renewal 

 Supports key objectives A and E. 
The relatively high stock of small businesses in Halton suggests that 
the local industry could continue to grow and provide additional 
employment opportunities if they are in a position to compete 
effectively for public sector supply chain contracts   
     

9.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 
9.1  The UK government and European Commission are encouraging 

public agencies to use procurement to achieve social policy goals. The 
council should aim to maximise the extent to which its procurement 
generates jobs and training opportunities.  However, this may conflict 
with European Commission principles relating to most economically 
advantageous tenders. 

 
9.2  Overcoming resistance to linking employment and training benefits with 

procurement is the main barrier, but there is also need to proceed with 
care to accommodate the EU and UK legal frameworks. 

 
9.3  European case law on the extent to which a public body can include 

employment and training requirements in their procurement mostly 
relates to situations where these were seen as ‘added value’ – that is – 
secondary considerations – rather than part of the subject of the 
contracts – core requirements. It is considered good practice, 
therefore, to embed employment and training requirements into tenders 
and score them as part of the overall tender. This can only be done to 
the extent that there is evidence that by doing so the authority is able to 
secure Best Value across its functions. 

 
9.4  Local authorities have broad powers to promote social, environmental 

and economic  well-being under the Local Government Act 2000. This 
can include training and job outcomes as core requirements – eg, 
buying ‘highways maintenance and skills development.’ What we are 
currently not permitted to do is to have regard to matters of the location 
of trainees and/or suppliers and contractors: Local Government Act 
1988. 

 

Page 21



7 

 
 
9.5  By referring to these requirements, a local authority can take bidders’ 

offers in relation to these matters into account in the award of the 
contract.  Secondary considerations can be included as contract 
conditions, but must not be used in the tender evaluation and award.  
As indicated in paragraph 9.3 of this report, by embedding employment 
and training outcomes into the tender they can be taken into 
consideration and will form part of the award. 

 
9.6  Under European case law, the inclusion of employment and training 

requirements could disadvantage non-local bidders.  This is because 
they have no local workforce or knowledge of local labour markets. 

 
9.7  It is important, therefore, to avoid ‘local referencing’, by only specifying 

targets that can be met from anywhere in Europe – eg, recruiting 
trainees – and instead, specifying a source of beneficiaries – for 
example, HEP, HPIJ, the College, Job Centre or agency – that will 
ensure equal access to bidders from anywhere in Europe. 

 
9.8  Providing information to bidders on the resources and services of the 

named source is important in creating a level playing field at the tender 
stage. 
 

10.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

10.1  The Halton Employment Partnership operates within the LSP 
framework, which in turn operates under the Council’s Equality and 
Diversity policy. 

 
11.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
11.1 There are no background documents under the meaning of this Act. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 22



8 

APPENDIX I 
 

Council Procurement/Construction Halton Workflow 
 

(1) 

Pre-Procurement 

(2) 

Procurement 

(3) 

Delivery/Monitoring 
Project Owner (buyer) to 
liaise with all relevant 
departments 

OJEU Notice etc where 
applicable 

Delivery of support/training/work 
placement activity by HEP Skills 
Group members, in line with Training 
and Employment Plan and the 
Delivery Plan 

Refer to Procurement 
Division checklist 
 
Assess value of contact 
 
NB £1m> refer to 
Construction Halton 

Pre Qualification Questionnaire 
(PQQ) and Evaluation 

Regular monitoring and compliance 
meetings with contractor and 
nominated representative from HEP 
Skills Group 

Construction Halton generate 
training forecast.  Provisional  
training target and obligation 
clause(s), if applicable, 
forwarded to HEP Skills 
Group 

Invitation to Tender (ITT) & 
evaluation  

Training and Employment Plan 
evaluation on completion of contract 
with contractor/Procurement 
Division/Property 
Services/Construction Halton 

Construction Halton/HEP 
Skills Group discuss 
provisional training target, 
obligation clauses, individual 
contributions/role and a draft 
Delivery Plan  to assist 
achievement of the training 
target 

Contract award 

Final training target, 
obligation clauses and 
Delivery Plan agreed by HEP 
Skills Group – notified to 
Procurement Division, 
Property Services and Legal 
Services 

Prepare Official Journal of 
the European Union (OJEU) 
documentation if applicable – 
incorporating obligation 
clauses if applicable 

Construction 
Halton/Procurement Division 
– soft marketing testing 

Ensure specification and 
tender documentation and 
evaluation matrix are 
complete and agree to 
incorporate obligation 
clauses/method statement in 
line with Construction Halton 
guidance 

 

 

 

NB: Green denotes areas of responsibility 
outside Procurement Division 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



9 

APPENDIX II 
 

Council Planning Agreements/Construction Halton Workflow 
 

(1) 

Pre-Application 

(Up to 2 years) 

(2) 

Application 

(Up to 6 months) 

(3) 

Delivery 

(Up to 3 years) 
Development Control assess if the 
proposed development is in scope?  
NB Applies to developments that are 
greater than 1000m

2;
 or more than 10 

residential units;  or valued  at more 
than £1m 

Planning application received 
 

Meeting – third stage Delivery 
Plan meeting(s) with 
developer/main 
contractor/Development 
Control/Construction Halton – 
Draft Delivery Plan agreed 

Development Control notify details of 
the proposed development to 
Construction Halton 

HEP Skills Group members 
notified about development by 
Construction Halton. 
Construction Halton generate 
updated training forecast and 
forward to Development 
Control 

Draft Delivery Plan circulated 
to HEP Skills Group members 
and agreed – developer 
notified 

Details logged – Construction Halton 
generate initial training forecast and 
forward to Development Control 

Meeting – second stage 
meeting with 
developer/Development 
Control/Construction Halton – 
detailed discussion about 
training and employment 
targets/planning obligations 

Delivery of 
support/training/work 
placement activity by HEP 
Skills Group members, in line 
with the Training and 
Employment and the Delivery 
Plan 

Meeting – First stage meeting with 
agent/ developer/Development 
Control and Construction Halton to 
discuss training and employment 
targets – in broad terms only at this 
stage 

Draft Training and 
Employment Plan agreed with 
developer and circulated for 
consultation to HEP Skills 
Steering Group members and 
other interested parties 

Regular monitoring and 
compliance meetings with 
contractor and nominated 
representative from HEP 
Skills Group 
 

Notification of consultation 
feedback and 
recommendations to 
developer 

Training and Employment 
Plan  evaluation on 
completion of contract with 
contractor/Development 
Control/Construction 
Halton/HEP Skills Group 

Final Training and 
Employment Plan agreed with 
developer 

Notification of Plan to 
Development Control Section 
106 Officer 

 

Section 106 planning 
obligations drafted by 
Development Control Section 
106 Officer 

 

 
 
 

Page 24



 1

REPORT TO: Employment, Learning, Skills and Community 
 Policy and Performance Board  
 
DATE:                                7th March 2011  
 
REPORTING OFFICER:    Strategic Director, Resources  
 
SUBJECT: Halton Child & Family Poverty Strategy, 2011-

2013 
 
WARDS: Boroughwide   
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To share with PPB members the development of the Halton Child & 

Family Poverty Strategy 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That 
 

(1) The draft strategy is endorsed  
(2)       A further report on the strategy’s Action Plan is brought to a future 

meeting. 
  

3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
The 2010 Child Poverty Act made a Government commitment to eradicate 
child poverty by 2020. Specific duties imposed upon local partners include: 
 

• Local partners to co-operate to mitigate the effects of child poverty 

• Local authorities to prepare a local child poverty needs assessment 

• Local joint child poverty strategies to be produced by April 2011. 

• Child poverty to be taken into account when preparing or revising the 
Sustainable Community Strategy. 

 
Whilst poverty can be measured by income, the council has agreed to adopt 
the European Union’s working definition of poverty; 
 

“Persons, families and groups of persons, whose resources (material, 
cultural and social) are so limited as to exclude them from the minimum    

acceptable way of life in the Member State to which they belong.’’ 
 
This recognises that poverty is not just about income but about effective 
exclusion from ordinary living patterns, customs and activities, such as: 
 

• Income poverty 

• Service poverty (difficulty in accessing and benefiting from quality services 
e.g. housing, health, education and leisure) 

• Participation poverty (affecting the ability to participate in the community 
and to   engage in social activities  

 

Agenda Item 6cPage 25



 2

It also has a negative impact on experience of education and training and 
affects the transition to independence. 
 
The Liverpool City Region’s commitment to reducing child poverty was 
prominent in both the City Employment Strategy (CES) and the Multi-Area 
Agreement (MAA).   
 
Therefore, in anticipation of the Child Poverty Act the CES Board 
commissioned the development of a LCR Child and Family Poverty 
Framework, with Knowsley acting as the lead City Region authority for child 
and family poverty through the City Employment Strategy. 
 
This has facilitated the adoption of common definitions, the sharing of data 
and good practice and good practice across the city region authorities.  
 
 
4.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
The report, ‘A Brighter Future: working together to tackle child and family 
poverty (Liverpool City Region Child and Family Poverty Framework Analysis 
Report) was published last summer, and has been a helpful resource  in the 
development of our strategy.  It will also help in the better understanding of 
cross boundary child poverty issues and assist in identifying opportunities to 
join up activity across the city region 
 
Halton’s Child and family poverty needs assessment was completed and 
published in December 2010 and is appended to the strategy. 
 
 
5.0 SUMMARY OF KEY ELEMENTS OF THE STRATEGY 
 
The key underlying causes of child and family poverty in Halton identified are; 
 

• Low family aspirations 

• Persistent cycle of benefit dependency, often intergenerational. 
 
The key priorities to tackle child and family poverty in Halton; 
 

• Change/challenge cultural acceptance and raise aspirations 

• Early intervention 

• Whole family approach 

• Provide a single point of access to key support services 
 
Key issues to be tackled as an early priority; 
 

•••• To ensure that support services meet the needs of target groups now, and 
in  the future, and are easily accessible 

Page 26



 3

•••• Improve the sharing, and quality of information, between partners to 
provide a better response and greater levels of longer-term support to 
service users. 

 
6.0 NEXT STEPS 
 
Subject to formal approval, the next milestone is to draft an Action Plan to co-
ordinate work towards the objectives set out in the strategy. This work will be 
undertaken during Qtr 1 of 2011/12. 
 
 
7.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
The Child & Family Poverty Strategy is a statutory requirement upon the 
Council and key partners. If it is to be effective it has to be of a genuinely 
‘cross-cutting’ nature across all of the Council’s and our partner’s priorities 
and plans. This has already been recognised by its identification as a key 
cross-cutting issue in the draft Sustainable Community Strategy. 
 
The need for the strategy to be embedded into all of the council’s priorities to 
varying degrees has an especially strong resonance for the employment, 
learning and skills agenda as work is the best route out of poverty for most 
parents and their children.  
 
This is not only because children in families where parents are in work are 
much less likely to be poor in income terms, although this is of course the 
case. It is also because paid employment can offer a sustainable route out of 
poverty for the longer term; because work is good for the physical and 
psychological health of parents and hence of their children; and because 
children who grow up in workless households are themselves much more 
likely to be poor in adulthood.  
 
Therefore, as well as ensuring that there are jobs available it is vital that our 
residents are ‘work ready’ through learning suitable skills and knowledge and 
that barriers to employment such as transport, and affordable childcare are 
accessible to those in greatest need.   
 
8.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 
The level of knowledge and understanding of the child and family poverty 
agenda in Halton is varied across the borough. It is important that there is a 
common understanding of the issue and a wide awareness of the child and 
family poverty strategy and activity amongst our partners.  This risk will be 
addressed through an effective and robust communication plan within the 
Action Plan.  
 

Achieving an effective approach to eradicating Child and Family in Halton will 
requires strong strategic leadership from the Council. This is being addressed 
through the establishment of a Child & Family Poverty LCR Child and Family 

Page 27



 4

Poverty Commission. The membership of the commission will be finalised 
over the following months.  

 
 
9.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment of the draft strategy will be completed by a 
multi-agency panel in late February and its outcome will be taken into account 
when developing the strategy’s action plan. 
 
10.0 IMPLEMENTATION DATE 
 
April 2011 
 
 
11.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Document 
 

‘A Brighter Future: working 
together to tackle child and 
family poverty’ 

Place of Inspection 
 

Rutland House, Halton 
Lea 

Contact Officer 
 

Nick Mannion 
 

Page 28



Halton Child and

Family Poverty

Strategy

Page 29



Page 30



1

HALTON CHILD AND FAMILY POVERTY STRATEGY 

CONTENTS 

Section Title Page 
FORWARD  3 

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY 

 4 

SECTION ONE Introduction 6 

The National Context 

  National Targets by 2020 

  Child Poverty Act 2010 

  Emerging national Child Poverty Strategy 

  Field and Allen reports 

6

The Regional and Sub Regional Context 

  Liverpool City Region : Child and Family Poverty 
Framework

7

The Local Context 

  Halton Strategic Partnership’s Vision 

  Local Definition of Child and Family Poverty 

  Aims and Objectives 

8

SECTION TWO Introduction 10 

The 2010 Needs 
Assessment

Key Messages 10 

SECTION THREE Introduction 12 

  Health 

  Children & Young People 

  Employment and Skills 

  Welfare Benefits 

  Transport 

  Housing 

  Other 

12Current Provision 

Budgetary Implications 16

SECTION FOUR Introduction 17 

Priorities for action and why? 17 

Financial Exclusion 19 

Frank Field’s review of Poverty and Life Chances 20 

Graham Allen review of Early Intervention 21 

Priorities for Action 

Summary of key priorities 21

SECTION FIVE Governance 22 

Consultation 22 

Links to other plans and strategies 23 

Challenges 23 

Implementing the
Strategy 

Action Plan 25 

Page 31



2

Equality Impact Assessment 25

USEFUL LINKS and 
GLOSSARY 

 26 

APPENDICES 28

Appendix 1 Halton’s Child and Family Poverty Needs Assessment  

Page 32



 
 
 

Foreword 
 
The children and young people of Halton are our future. We are  
 

‘A community committed to realising high aspirations, where all children, 
young people and families are valued and respected and where inclusion and 

diversity are promoted’ 
 
However, around 6,500 children in Halton are currently growing up in poverty, around 
a quarter of all our children.  
 
We know that a child that grows up in poverty is more likely to do less well at school, 
have lower chances of getting a well paid job and is more likely to have poor physical 
and mental health during adulthood.  
 
This is the reality of growing-up in poverty; where birthdays and Christmas are 
potentially times of crisis for families, with the spectre of spiralling debts at punishing 
rates of interest and repayment are the enduring memory. Also, in turn, their children 
are likely to suffer the same disadvantage, perpetuating the cycle of poverty from one 
generation to another.  
 
However, in Halton we are not prepared to accept this, and before the 2010 Child 
Poverty Act came into force, tackling of child poverty was a priority of the council and 
its partners in Halton.  

 
It is our view that tackling child poverty is everybody’s business. Our strategy is a 
child & family poverty strategy. This is because our partners, and the communities 
they work with insist that only by approaching poverty with a ‘whole family’ approach 
can we hope to help families make sustained progress out of poverty.     
 
However, this strategy has been developed at a point in time when we are about to 
experience the greatest changes to the welfare system since its inception, together 
with the partners’ most significant reductions in their budgets for a generation.  
 
Perhaps not the most auspicious time to launch a new strategy!  
 
In the light of the fact that there is unlikely to be significant extra money available for 
the foreseeable future, our strategy focuses how we can work more effectively and 
efficiently together to make sure we deliver the right support and services to those 
families in greatest need in a way they can use them to their best advantage. 
 
Everyone in Halton can contribute in some way to eradicating child and family 
poverty by 2020. We all have a role to play to provide a better future for ALL our 
children young people in the Borough. 
 
Councillor John Swain 
Children, Young People and Families Portfolio Holder 
Halton Borough Council 
 

Page 33



4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This Strategy outlines the extent of child and family poverty in Halton and our commitment to 
reducing it. We share the Government’s goal of eradicating child poverty by 2020 and 
believe that partnership working is the best way to achieve this. 

The Government definition of eradicating child poverty as set out in the Child Poverty Act is: 

  Relative low income – to reduce the proportion of children who live in families with 
net income below 60% of the median to less than 10%. 

  Combined low income and material deprivation – to reduce the proportion of children 
who live in material deprivation and live in a household where the net income is less 
than 70% of the median to less than 5%. 

  Persistent poverty – to reduce the proportion of children that experience relative 
poverty for 3 or more consecutive years (target to be set by 2015). 

  Absolute low income – to reduce the proportion of children who live in households 
where the net income is less than 60% of the average net income in 2010 to less 
than 5%. By fixing the comparator income at 2010 levels this indicator allows 
changes in average net income to be ignored. This is particularly important during 
recession as a fall in average net income will lead to a reported fall in the number of 
people in poverty using the other indicators. 

In Halton just under 26.4% of children live in poverty. This places Halton below the Liverpool 
City Region average but highlights the considerable task remaining to meet the 
Government’s targets. 

We believe that achieving these financially orientated targets will be very challenging but 
despite this we have chosen, in common with Liverpool City Region partners, to adopt a 
wider definition of poverty. We believe that financial poverty is only one element and that 
other forms of poverty such as poverty of services (or accessibility of them), poverty of 
opportunity, and poverty of aspiration are equally important factors holding people back from 
achieving their full potential. In addition this Strategy overtly refers to family poverty in 
addition to child poverty, recognising the linkages between the two. 

In order to assess the prevalence and distribution of child and family poverty within Halton a 
comprehensive Needs Assessment was undertaken. In recognition of Halton’s position 
within the wider Liverpool City Region economic area, the Assessment was coordinated 
between the six authorities. This Strategy draws heavily on the conclusions of the 
Assessment. 

The key priorities for action are: 

Key underlying causes of child and family poverty in Halton 

  Low family aspirations 

  A cycle of benefit dependency which can be an intergenerational issue 

Key priorities to tackle child and family poverty in Halton 

  Cultural challenge and raising aspirations 

  Early intervention 

Page 34



5

  Whole family approach 

  Providing a single point of access to support services 

Key issues to overcome first to tackle child and family poverty in Halton 

  Ensuring that support services meet the needs of target groups now and in the future and 
are easily accessible 

  Improving the sharing of information between partners to provide greater support to 
customers 

We will be developing an Action Plan to support this Strategy which will set out the detail of 
how we will tackle the issues. 

Page 35



6

SECTION ONE: CHILD & FAMILY POVERTY IN CONTEXT  

INTRODUCTION

This Strategy outlines why we need to tackle child and family poverty and the scale of the 
problem both nationally and here in Halton. Halton Borough Council and its strategic 
partners are committed to reducing the number of people living in poverty in Halton. We 
believe that achieving this aim will benefit not only those directly affected but everybody who 
lives, works and visits Halton. 

We recognise that tackling the causes of poverty requires partnership working both locally 
and regionally. With this in mind, during the development of this Strategy we have worked 
closely with both statutory partners and key colleagues in Halton. In addition we have also 
worked with partners across the Liverpool City Region to ensure that work is coordinated 
regionally. We feel that this gives us the best chance of maximising the positive work that is, 
and will, be undertaken to reduce child and family poverty. 

We are determined to ensure that the work we undertake is targeted as effectively as 
possible to overcome the real issues that people face in our area. To do this we have 
undertaken a comprehensive needs assessment for Halton with our Liverpool City Region 
partners. The results of this have shaped this Strategy. We recognise that the needs of 
people will change over time, some of these changes will be due to the work undertaken to 
reduce poverty and some will be outside of our control. To make sure that our work remains 
as effective as possible we are committed to undertaking a new needs assessment in 
2013/14.

THE NATIONAL CONTEXT 

Despite the best efforts of everyone involved, child and family poverty is still far too common 
in the UK today. In recognition of the fact that there needs to be a concerted effort to reduce 
the number of children living in poverty, the previous Government passed the Child Poverty 
Act in April 2010. This includes a commitment to eradicate child poverty by 2020 and 
imposes specific duties on key public sector organisations including: 

  Local partners to co-operate to mitigate the effects of child poverty 

  Local authorities to make arrangements to prepare a local child poverty needs 
assessment 

  Local joint child poverty strategies to be produced 

  Child poverty to be taken into account when preparing or revising the Sustainable 
Community Strategy. 

The Act also sets out four challenging UK targets to be met by 2020 which frame the 
Government’s definition of eradicating child poverty: 

  Relative low income – to reduce the proportion of children who live in families with 
net income below 60% of the median to less than 10%. 

  Combined low income and material deprivation – to reduce the proportion of children 
who live in material deprivation and live in a household where the net income is less 
than 70% of the median to less than 5% 

Page 36



7

  Persistent poverty – to reduce the proportion of children that experience relative 
poverty for 3 or more consecutive years (target to be set by 2015) 

  Absolute low income – to reduce the proportion of children who live in households 
where the net income is less than 60% of the average net income in 2010 to less 
than 5%. By fixing the comparator income at 2010 levels this indicator allows 
changes in average net income to be ignored. This is particularly important during 
recession as a fall in average net income will lead to a reported fall in the number of 
people in poverty using the other indicators. 

To provide a national focus for action the Government is publishing a national Strategy to 
tackle child poverty. To support the development of the Strategy the Government has 
commissioned a series of reviews. The ‘Graham Allen review of Early Intervention: The Next 
Steps’ (Interim Report) and the Frank Field report ‘The Foundation Years: preventing poor 
children becoming poor adults’ both focus on early intervention and the importance of 
providing a structure to support children during these formative years. Both of these reports 
are discussed in greater depth in Section 4. 

The most recent figures for England from 20081 show that 21.6% of children under the age 
of 16 lived in a relative low income household. This figure reduces slightly to 20.9% when all 
children are included (up to the age of 19). It is clear therefore that a significant amount of 
work remains. 

THE REGIONAL AND SUB-REGIONAL CONTEXT 

The North West of England has above average incidents of children living in poverty. With 
23.5% of children under 16 and 22.8% of all children living in low income households, the 
region has the fourth highest rate of child poverty in England. 

In recognition of this, the Liverpool City Region (LCR) has developed a Child and Family 
Poverty Framework which is providing a coordinated response to poverty across the Region. 
Launched in July 2010 the Framework has identified four broad themes to tackle child and 
family poverty2:

  Raising family income 

  Improving outcomes for children 

  Mitigating the impacts of poverty 

  Improving communications and challenge perceptions 

In addition five key actions were identified: 

  Complete a Liverpool City Region child and family poverty needs assessment to 
provide an in-depth understanding of the key drivers of poverty in the city region. 

  Develop a child poverty data project to establish a comprehensive, common 
approach to measuring and monitoring child poverty across the six city region local 
authorities.

  Establish a Child and Family Poverty Commission to act as the driving force behind 
the Liverpool City Region Child and Family Poverty approach. 

  Set up a Liverpool City Region Child and Family Poverty Advisory Group who will be 
responsible for identifying gaps in analysis, reality checking emerging proposals and 

1 http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/stats/personal-tax-credits/lsoa-gov-off08.xls 
2 http://www.liverpoolcitystrategyces.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2010/06/A-Brighter-Future.pdf 

Page 37



8

making recommendations to the Liverpool City Region Child and Family Poverty 
Commission. 

  Conduct a Liverpool City Region wide formal consultation exercise over the summer 
in 2010. The intelligence gathered from this exercise will feed into the Liverpool City 
Region Needs Assessment and help to shape the Liverpool City Region Child and 
Family Poverty Strategy, Action Plan and work streams. 

Considerable progress has been made since 1999 when the Government first stated its 
ambition to eradicate child poverty by 2020. Nationally 800,000 children have been lifted out 
of poverty but 2.9 million3 remain below the threshold. Of these 726,000 reside in the North 
West and 167,770 live in the Liverpool City Region4.

In our region the task is made harder by lower average wages. Average median wages in all 
six authorities are below the national average and all but one lies below the average for the 
North West. The biggest discrepancy is found in Halton where the average annual median 
wage is £2,297.40 lower than the average for Great Britain. Due to the fact that the child 
poverty targets are a percentage of the national average wage, this makes it more likely that 
children will fall into the poverty category in our area. 

LOCAL CONTEXT 

In Halton just under 26.4% of children live in poverty. This places Halton below the Liverpool 
City Region average. The most recent figures from 2008 reveal that in total there are 6,550 
children living in poverty in Halton. Of these 5,520 children live in out of work families and 
1,030 live in households classified as in-work. This underlines that whilst being in work 
reduces the incidence of child poverty it doesn’t guarantee that children will be lifted out of 
poverty, particularly when there is only one working adult in the household. 

[Present comparative statistics by way of tables/graphs] 

Whilst the Child Poverty Act requires local authorities to undertake a child poverty needs 
assessment, Halton in line with the Liverpool City Region has chosen to broaden the 
definition to child and family poverty. This recognises that child and family poverty are linked 
and are therefore best tackled together.  

We share the Government’s target of eradicating child poverty by 2020 and we want to start 
work as quickly as possible towards this goal. We know that this is a very challenging target 
which is made all the more challenging by the lower average household income in Halton 
compared to the North West and England and the economic uncertainty. We believe that 
paid employment is the best way out of poverty, although it is not a guaranteed route, the 
majority of people who find paid work are able to move out of poverty. 

The uncertainty over the number of jobs that will be lost in the coming years and the number 
that will be created makes it hard to forecast how easy it will be for people to move into 
employment and we recognise that slow growth will make it much harder to meet the targets. 
However the need to tackle child and family poverty remains regardless of economic 
conditions so we remain committed to achieving the targets. 

3 Households below average income 2007/2008 (HABI) DWP. 
4

2008 HMRC Child and working tax credits statistics 

(2007/08) and child benefit geographical statistics (August 2008) 

Page 38



9

Halton child and family poverty targets 

  Relative low income – to reduce the proportion of children who live in families with 
net income below 60% of the median to less than 10%. 

  Combined low income and material deprivation – to reduce the proportion of children 
who live in material deprivation and live in a household where the net income is less 
than 70% of the median to less than 5%. 

  Persistent poverty – to reduce the proportion of children that experience relative 
poverty for 3 or more consecutive years (target to be set by 2015). 

  Absolute low income – to reduce the proportion of children who live in households 
where the net income is less than 60% of the average net income in 2010 to less 
than 5%. By fixing the comparator income at 2010 levels this indicator allows 
changes in average net income to be ignored. This is particularly important during 
recession as a fall in average net income will lead to a reported fall in the number of 
people in poverty using the other indicators. 

Page 39



10

SECTION TWO: THE 2010 NEEDS ASSESSMENT  

INTRODUCTION

Halton Borough Council has undertaken a comprehensive Needs Assessment with the 
Liverpool City Region (LCR) partners. We are required to undertake a Needs Assessment 
but in recognition of the importance of this process we have gone beyond the minimum 
requirement by working with the LCR authorities. 

The Needs Assessment provides information about the level of child poverty in Halton and 
also highlights the areas where poverty occurs within the borough. The Assessment uses 
statistical information from national sources and from local sources but also uses information 
gathered about people’s experiences of poverty and services that are offered in the borough 
to tackle poverty. By using all of the information the Needs Assessment provides a detailed 
view of poverty in Halton. 

The factors that contribute to child and family poverty can be complex and deep rooted and 
we believe that it is important to undertake the analysis with our sub regional colleagues in 
order to get a clear picture of the common issues that we face. The Liverpool City Region is 
made up of the five Merseyside authorities and Halton, and recognises that the six 
authorities share common issues and act as a single economic and employment area. By 
undertaking a coordinated assessment the LCR is in a stronger position to tackle the issues. 

KEY MESSAGES 

Whilst it remains a significant issue in Halton, the percentage of children under the age of 16 
experiencing poverty in Halton has reduced by 0.7% since 2006. 

In overall terms, more neighbourhoods experienced a decrease in poverty during 2006-08 
than an increase, although for many neighbourhoods’ it remains a significant issue.  

The average annual household income in Halton is £46 lower than the LCR average, £3,323 
lower than the North West average and £5,492 lower than the England average. 

Halton also contains the two wards with the highest average household incomes of all LCR 
wards in 2009. This highlights the considerable variation of household income across fairly 
short distances within the Borough.  

Halton has a disproportionately high number (12,500) of people who are dependent on out 
of work benefits such as Incapacity Benefit/Employment and Income Support Allowance, 
and this dependency is very high across a relatively large part of the Borough, particularly in 
the wards of Halton Castle (Castlefields), Windmill Hill and Halton Lea. 

The significant 13.2% reduction in the Halton JSA claimant count suggests that the local 
Employment, Learning and Skills partnership has been effective in getting people off this 
benefit, particularly in comparison to elsewhere in the LCR. However, the destinations of 
these people (in terms of work and wage level) are less clear, and may contribute to the 
evidenced increase of in-work poverty. 

Whilst not a direct indicator of general poverty, data on lone parent benefit claimants can be 
used to highlight neighbourhoods where some children are most likely to be living in relative 
poverty conditions, with potentially less parental support, and limited potential for the 
household to move out of poverty. 

Page 40



11

The prevailing economic conditions create challenging circumstances for any district, but 
Halton’s underpinning economic weaknesses make these challenges far more daunting. 
Halton has a narrow economic base and in common with the LCR the local economy and 
jobs market is overly reliant on the public sector. This means that the area will be 
disproportionately affected by public sector budget cuts. In addition the Borough has a 
relatively low skills base which makes it harder for residents to access the full range of jobs 
available in the Borough. 

The borough ranks as highly resilient in terms of the export trade and foreign owner 
businesses resident in Halton. This is offset by the low rankings around community 
variables. Halton’s resilience rankings for life expectancy and claimant count are amongst 
the lowest in the country. 

Halton is heavily dependent on neighbouring areas and the wider City Region labour market 
for jobs, meaning that the resilience of other areas is very relevant to the Borough. 

Residents in employment outside Halton are dependent on transport - increasing fuel costs 
will become a major pressure on their ability to afford to retain jobs.  

Children and families living in poverty are more likely to experience a wide range of health 
inequalities. Examples of health related impacts include - children growing up in poverty are 
37 times more likely to die as a result of exposure to smoke, fire, and flames; they are three 
times as likely to suffer mental health disorders; twice as likely to be homeless or trapped in 
bad housing. 

There is a relationship between poverty and educational attainment, for example nearly one 
in five girls and more than one in four boys in receipt of free school meals leave school 
without at least five GCSEs. Whilst free school meals aren’t a direct indicator of child poverty 
it does illustrate the link between poorer households and qualifications. 

By the age of 19, only 14.3% of Halton residents have achieved a NVQ level 3 qualification, 
compared with 22.6% nationally. Almost 17% of working age residents in Halton have no 
qualifications, compared with 13.8% regionally and 12.3% nationally. 

Low aspirations can be a contributory factor to becoming trapped in poverty. Some families 
have no experience of anything but benefits which can make it daunting to find work.  

Page 41



12

SECTION THREE: CURRENT PROVISION 

INTRODUCTION

A considerable amount of work is already taking place. We have undertaken a review of how 
the services currently offered in the Borough support our goal of reducing child and family 
poverty. This section provides a summary of the work. 

Health
Services active in this area include - Children’s Centres, Environmental Health, Community 
Health Services, and Halton and St Helens PCT 

  All families living in Halton have access to a wide range of safety equipment at a 
reduced price and those on low incomes have access to free equipment to reduce 
the number of preventable accidents in the home. 

  Pre School Healthy Eating Scheme, providing healthier options for child nutrition. 

  Smoking Cessation and Enforcement. 

  All NHS Halton and St Helens programmes are targeted to reduce the health 
inequalities that poverty creates. Specific programmes include Breastfeeding 
Support, Child Safety, Halton Healthy Early Years Status and the Community Food 
Team.

  Halton Healthy Schools Programme and the 15 -19 Years Healthy Weight Pathway 
support the health of children and young people. 

Children and Young People 
Services active in this area include - Halton Citizens Advice Bureau, Children and Young 
People’s Directorate, Halton Youth Service, Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service, Cheshire 
Constabulary, Halton and Warrington Youth Offending Team, Cheshire Halton and 
Warrington Race and Equality Centre and Barnardo’s. 

  Halton Citizens Advice Bureau Volunteer Legal Adviser training programme provides 
access to work whilst the Families Advice and Support Project provides a dedicated 
and enhanced holistic advice service that fast tracks families needing help. 

  Targeted intervention programmes – aimed at providing basic skills, to improve 
educational attainment and access to work. In addition to national programmes; CLL 
- communication, language and literacy, ECAT - every child a talker, ECC - every 
child a counter, ECAR - every child a reader and ECAW - every child a writer, there 
is also a one to one tuition programme in all schools that targets children who need 
extra help. 

  Narrowing the attainment gap for children in poverty by working with schools to 
ascertain the factors that are stopping them from achieving their full potential. 

  Lobbying for changes to local and national policies to support the aim of eradicating 
child and family poverty. 

  European Social Fund programmes aimed at young people Not in Education, 
Employment or Training (NEET). 

  Apprenticeships at Levels 2 and 3 offer a framework of qualifications giving 
transferrable skills 'on the job'. 

  KS4 Engagement Service works to prevent permanent exclusions from school. The 
pupils are often from vulnerable backgrounds. The service aims to support struggling 

Page 42



13

children through school to allow them to maximise their potential and hopefully go 
onto further education or training so that they can access good jobs in the future. 

  Barnardo’s Safer Futures Service works to ensure that vulnerable children are 
supported and given access to safe accomadation. 

  Programmes to reduce teenage pregnancy and substance misuse help to reduce the 
number of children born into poverty. 

  Investment in Children’s Centres, day care nuseries, primary schools and secondary 
schools to provide children and young people with the best possible facilities. 

  Halton Duke of Edingburgh Scheme develops teamwork and leadership skills. 

  Halton Youth Bank provides young people with a real say in how grant money is 
awarded in Halton with responsibility for awarding in excess of £275,000 since 2009. 

  The Respect programme works with people aged from 13 to 16 years old to improve 
confidence and selfesteem. The project makes young people aware of the 
consquences of their actions in terms of commiting fire crime and/or anti social 
behaviour. A Chester University evaluation determined that for every £1 spent on the 
project £3.70 was saved by society. 

  Prince’s Trust Team Programme has worked with over 1,750 young people in the 
past 15 years. Over 80% of young people engaged with the programme have 
subsequently accessed full time eduction, employment or training. 

  On the Streets works within areas of embedded youth nuisance to reduce instances 
of anti-social behaviour. 

  Halton and Warrington Youth Offending Team work with young people in the criminal 
justice system to reduce the risk of reoffending and increase their chance of 
accessing employment benefiting society as a whole. 

  The Divert project is a mental health and Youth Offending Team project which works 
with all of the young people who are arrested and detained at the Sandymoor 
Custodial Facility to ensure that they get the right support as quckily as possible. 

  The Youth Offending Team’s reparation project allows young offenders to make a 
useful contribution to society by undertaking projects that improve residents’ quality 
of life. In addition to giving something back to the community, the tasks give 
offenders new skills which can help them to reintigrate into society.  

  Targeted work with Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) communities helps to provide 
new skills and support for hard to reach families. 

Employment and Skills 
Services active in this area include - Cheshire Probation Trust, Children’s Services, Halton 
and Warrington Trading Standards, Halton Credit Union, Jobcentre Plus, Halton 
Employment Partnership, Greater Merseyside Connexions Partnership, Riverside College 
Halton and Halton People into Jobs. 

  Cheshire Probation Trust aim to reduce individual offending by maximising income 
and access to services that may have a direct effect on poverty. 

  Adult Learning and Skills Development service offer post 19 learning opportunities for 
parents of young children. 

  Kings Cross community parent programme will recruit and train local residents to 
enable them to support local families. All of the volunteers will complete an initial 8 
session training programme. 

  Budgeting Skills Project provides users with the skills to plan their finances and to 
avoid loan sharks. 

  Increasing the effective supply of labour by helping as many unemployed and 
economically inactive people of working age as possible by providing the skills and 
training to enable people to move into jobs or self employment. 

Page 43



14

  Helping people of working age in the most disadvantaged groups and areas to move 
closer to the labour market, compete effectively for and remain in work, and to adjust 
more quickly to economic change. 

  Riverside College is the main Further Education provider in Halton offering courses 
to learners from the age of 14 to adulthood. The College has a particular emphasis 
on helping students from vulnerable backgrounds to achieve their full potential. 

  Halton Employment Partnership helps local people to access work. Between 
February and July 2010 the Partnership helped Tesco to recruit 377 people for a new 
distribution centre at 3MG. As a result of the support offered 75% of the positions 
were offered to Halton residents. 

  Provision of hardship funds for young people who are Not in Employment, Education 
or Training (NEET) to support them to find employment. 

  Halton People into Jobs is a Halton Borough Council service which offers 
Information, Advice and/or Guidance on a range of employment, learning and skills 
opportunities. The service also provides support for business start-ups in 
collaboration with local partners.  

Welfare Benefits 
Services active in this area include – Halton Borough Council Revenue and Benefits, Halton 
Credit Union and Halton Citizens Advice Bureaux

  Ensuring that residents claim their full entitlement of Housing and Council Tax 
benefits.

  Welfare Rights Service provides Quality Marked advice on all welfare benefits and 
debt negotiation from basic form filling up to and including court attendance. The 
service supports all residents including those from vulnerable backgrounds and helps 
people to avoid poverty traps. 

  Halton Advice Bus takes information about benefits and consumer rights to hard to 
reach communities, helping all residents to access these services. 

  Halton Credit Union and Halton Citizens Advice Bureaux both provide support to 
ensure that people are aware of the benefits they are entitled to and have access to 
affordable credit.  

Transport
Services active in this area include - Children’s Centres, Highway Development and Halton 
Transport.

  Children’s Centres are planned to ensure that they are easily accessible by families 
with the majority within walking distance of the most deprived areas. 

  Local Transport Plan 2 has delivered a number of schemes that are aimed at 
improving access to transport and removing barriers to employment. 

  Halton Transport provide assisted home to school transport which includes a 
commitment to provide assisted travel where a pupil from a low income household 
lives more than two miles away from their choice of closest secondary school. 

  Halton transport provide transport for looked after children for school journeys, out of 
school hours activities and family contact visits and health appointments. 

  Link To Work and Link To Hospital subsidised taxi services are provided to enable 
families to affordably access employment and health care outside of the hours of 
scheduled local bus services. 

  The supported bus network provides bus services for routes that aren’t commercially 
viable and therefore increases the accessibility of the bus network beyond that 
offered by commercial operators. The supported network in Halton generates over 
400,000 passenger journeys per year. Many of the services provide access to crucial 

Page 44



15

locations such as medical establishments, employment sites, education and learning 
centres and also retail and recreational sites. 

Housing
Services active in this area include - Affinity Sutton, Halton Housing Trust, Liverpool Housing 
Trust, Children’s Centres, Environmental Health, Halton Home Improvement and 
Independent Living Services, PlusDane Group and Riverside Housing Association. 

  Social Housing Associations and Registered Social Landlords take a proactive 
approach to helping residents to meet their financial obligations by undertaking 
financial health checks prior to residents signing tenancy agreements to ensure that 
they can afford the property. They also undertake benefit checks to ensure that 
residents are getting all of the benefits that they are entitled to. In approximately 
eighteen months, one provider has secured in excess of £600,000 of additional 
income by assisting tenants to access previously unclaimed benefits. 

  Affordable Warmth Campaigns have been undertaken which advise social housing 
residents on how to keep warm whilst minimising their energy consumption and 
therefore bills. Information packs also include information on healthy recipes and the 
best energy rates. Campaigns have been coordinated with Age Concern and the 
local Primary Care Trust. 

  As well as providing information on energy efficiency a number of Social Housing 
Associations have invested in physical measures to make properties more efficient. 
Significant investment has resulted in the installation of energy efficient boilers, 
double glazed windows and insulation. 

  Halton Housing Trust has developed a three year Financial Inclusion Strategy which 
supports advice on energy rates, insurance and budgeting. 

  The New Shoots project provides low cost fruit and vegetables to enable families 
living in poverty to access fresh food. 

  Active promotion of credit unions to help families to avoid loan sharks as their 
services can contribute to families becoming trapped in poverty. 

  Environmental Health undertake inspections of rented properties to ensure that 
minimum housing standards are met. Landlords must rectify any issues raised before 
properties are let. Ensuring that minimum standards are adhered to has a major 
influence on the health of children and families. 

  Ensuring that families with a disabled adult or a disabled child have access to social 
housing. Unsuitable housing affects the whole of family life and can affect health and 
community inclusion. 

Other
Services active in this area include - Employment, Economic Regeneration and Business 
Development Department and Risk and Emergency Planning

  By working with large employers the Employment, Economic Regeneration and 
Business Development Department help to manage and encourage inward 
investment in Halton, creating new job opportunities in the Borough. 

  By developing rigorous plans, potential risks that could lead to children and families 
falling into poverty, such as becoming homeless following severe weather events, are 
managed.

Page 45



16

BUDGETARY IMPLICATIONS
The services listed in this section represent a snap shot of provision towards the end of 
2010. We recognise that the unprecedented public sector budget cuts which are taking effect 
in 2011/12 and will continue for at least four years, will threaten some of the services offered. 
Halton Borough Council has taken a conscious decision to try to protect front line services 
and the will to tackle poverty remains strong amongst partners too. We aim to continue to 
make in roads into poverty within the Borough in spite of the difficult economic climate. 

Page 46



17

SECTION FOUR: PRIORITIES FOR ACTION 

INTRODUCTION

The needs assessment provides the basis for determining the priorities for Halton. In 
addition a workshop was held with stakeholders drawn from across Halton to ascertain what 
the key priorities should be. The workshop was well attended underlining that the desire to 
tackle child and family poverty is strong in the Borough. 

Participants were asked to nominate actions that will help to reduce poverty in the area and 
then vote on which were seen as the key priorities. We have drawn heavily on the outcomes 
of this workshop in the development of the key priorities. 

PRIORITIES FOR ACTION AND WHY 

The following tables provide a summary of a workshop undertaken to determine key 
priorities for tackling child and family poverty in the Borough. Participants were able to 
suggest any measures that they felt would positively impact on poverty and then through a 
series of votes participants were asked to rank the measures to ascertain the key priorities. 

The first task asked participants to identify the underlying causes of poverty in Halton having 
seen a presentation of the needs assessment. 

The most important factor was identified as ‘Family aspirations’ followed by ‘Cultural 
acceptance’. In Halton low aspirations are believed to be a key factor holding children back 
from achieving their full potential. In particular a lack of positive role models, lack of 
academic ambition and a fear of further education is restricting the academic achievements 
of Halton’s young people which leads to a cycle of low paid employment and increases the 
likelihood of becoming dependent on benefits in adult life. 

When asked to identify the second most important issue ‘Benefit dependency’ was seen as 
the key issue followed by ‘Lack of secure employment’. Both of these issues are related to 
low aspirations but also highlight the need to support people in finding employment through 
providing individuals with the necessary skills to access employment and ensuring that the 
right mix of jobs are available in the Borough. 

What are the underlying causes of child poverty in Halton? 

Issue 1st Vote

Family aspirations 11 

Cultural acceptance 9 

Lack of secure employment 3 

Lack of long-term investment in services 3 

Benefit dependency 1 

Lifestyle 1 

Educational attainment (post 16) 1 

Financial lifestyle 0 

Issue 2nd Vote

Benefit dependency 9 

Lack of secure employment 7 

Cultural acceptance 3 

Lifestyle 2 

Page 47



18

Family aspirations 2 

Financial lifestyle 2 

Lack of long-term investment in services 1 

Educational attainment (post 16) 1 

Having identified the key causes of poverty the group were then asked to determine the key 
actions to mitigate the issues. 

The group identified ‘Cultural challenge/aspirations’ as the key area of focus. This follows on 
strongly from the priority causes. Alongside this ‘Early intervention’ was also highlighted as 
the best way to bring about long term change. 

When asked to select the second most important actions ‘Whole family approach (holistic)’ 
and ‘Flexible single point of access’ were chosen. Adopting a whole family approach 
recognises that intergenerational poverty is a serious issue and an holistic approach is 
necessary to break the cycle of poverty. Adopting a flexible single point of access recognises 
that the range of services offered can be confusing and people would benefit from a simpler 
system which guides them to the most appropriate service as quickly as possible. 

What should our key priorities be? 

Issue 1st Vote

Cultural challenge/aspirations 7 

Early intervention 7 

Focus on 0-5 years 5 

Whole family approach (holistic)  4 

Education – parentcraft 4 

Identify ‘frequent flyers’ 2 

Best practice evidence 1 

Flexible single point of access 0 

Celebration of success 0 

Issue 2nd Vote

Whole family approach (holistic)  6 

Flexible single point of access 6 

Cultural challenge/aspirations 5 

Early intervention 3 

Identify ‘frequent flyers’ 3 

Best practice evidence 2 

Education – parentcraft 2 

Focus on 0-5 years 1 

Celebration of success 1 

In the third task participants were asked to select the issue that should be tackled first. The 
most popular choice was ‘Mapping service user journeys to future provision’ with ‘Info 
sharing between partners’ a close second. 

Mapping of services was seen as a key tool in firstly simplifying the system for users and 
secondly in identifying which services provide the best support for lifting people out of 
poverty. This relates strongly to the identification of a single point of access as an important 
measure for helping people to access services more easily. 

Increased information sharing between partners also figured strongly. This category of action 
supports the whole family approach where information sharing between partners is key. It 

Page 48



19

also supports early intervention and raising aspirations as a range of partners can provide a 
much broader overview of the contributory factors that lead to poverty than any one partner 
can. Once all of the factors are known services are much better positioned to provide the 
right support to help families to escape poverty. 

What should we tackle first? 

Issue 1st Vote 

Mapping service user journeys to 
future provision 

7

Info sharing between partners 6 

Community engagement – priorities 4 

Multi-agency co-located teams 4 

Targeted information services 3 

Online multi-agency directory of services 3 

Communications – what’s happening? 1 

Issue 2nd Vote

Info sharing between partners 8 

Mapping service user journeys to future 
provision

6

Community engagement – priorities 3 

Communications – what’s happening? 3 

Multi-agency co-located teams 2 

Targeted information services 2 

Online multi-agency directory of services 1 

Financial Exclusion 
In addition to the work undertaken through the needs assessment and the outcomes of the 
stakeholder workshop, this Strategy and the resulting Action Plan have been shaped by an 
assessment of the prevalence and effects of financial exclusion in Halton, which has been 
undertaken by Halton and Warrington Trading Standards. 

Financial exclusion can mean that individuals have limited or no access to: 

 Bank Accounts: vulnerable individuals can find it difficult to obtain bank accounts and 
difficult to understand how to use their account to avoid unnecessary bank charges. 
Individuals can be refused a bank or building society account because they cannot 
provide identity documents to show who they are and where they live. Many banks and 
building societies only accept a driving licence or passport, which some low-income 
families do not have. Basic bank accounts provide essential financial services such as 
enabling people to pay their bills by direct debit, pay in cheques and cash, and make 
cash withdrawals 24 hours a day and receive income and benefit payments. 

 Personal Credit: vulnerable individuals can find it difficult to obtain personal credit from 
mainstream low-cost lenders.  

 Insurance: vulnerable individuals can have difficulty accessing insurance products, 
particularly home contents insurance, either because they haven’t got the income to pay 
for a policy or because the area where they live attracts higher premiums. 

 Savings: many individuals on lower or fixed incomes can find it difficult to get savings 
started and experience difficulty in accessing savings accounts. 

Page 49



20

 Financial Advice: individuals can find it difficult to get simple and independent 
explanations of financial services and easy access to money management information.  

 Employment: not having a bank account often acts as a barrier to employment as more 
and more employers prefer to pay wages directly into a bank account. 

Certain groups are at high risk of financial exclusion: social housing tenants, those who are 
unemployed, those claiming benefits and lone parents. There is an established link between 
social housing and child poverty and in Halton every Lower Super Output Area that has high 
levels of child poverty also has a high proportion of social housing - the highest correlation in 
the Liverpool City Region5.

The demographic profile of Halton provides the following estimates of those at high risk of 
financial exclusion: 

Groups at high risk of financial exclusion Estimated numbers 
‘at risk’ in Halton 

Tenants of Social Rented Housing  13,245 households 

People who are unemployed and claiming Job 
Seekers Allowance 

4,110 people 
(May 2010) 

People claiming health-related benefits 8,420 people 
(May 2010) 

Lone parents on income support 2,200 people 
 (May 2010) 

It should be noted that any one individual may experience several of these risk factors 
together and so it is difficult to estimate the actual number of households or people that are 
at risk of financial exclusion. 

The need to tackle financial exclusion within the Borough will be a key consideration in the 
development of the Action Plan. 

Frank Field’s review of Poverty and Life Chances 
In June 2010 Frank Field MP was commissioned by the Prime Minister to provide an 
independent review on poverty and life chances. The review resulted in the publication of 
“The Foundation Years: preventing poor children becoming poor adults” in December 2010. 
The findings of this review have been taken into account in the development of this Strategy 
and will inform the Action Plan. 

5 A Brighter Future: working together to Tackle Child and Family Poverty, Child and Family Poverty 
Framework Interim Analysis Report, Liverpool City Region, 2010, pg 30

Page 50



21

Some of the key messages from the review include the assertion that child poverty in its 
broadest sense is about more than household income and that income is not the dominant 
cause of restricted life chances. As a result measures that solely focus on income, whilst 
helping to address financial poverty, are not effective in tackling the wider issues such as 
poverty of aspiration, financial exclusion and skills gaps that contribute to intergenerational 
and persistent poverty. 

We agree with this conclusion and support the model of providing strong support structures 
for families which provide tangible benefits to them. This is reflected in the priorities identified 
in the stakeholder workshop which are outlined in this chapter. In particular an emphasis on 
aligning services to needs, information sharing and raising aspirations which were all strong 
themes, support these goals. 

In addition the review found that focusing on the foundation years from 0-5 years of age is 
key. This aspiration was also highlighted at the workshop with early intervention identified as 
a key issue and focusing on the foundation years being seen as important. 

Graham Allen review of Early Intervention 
In June 2010 the Government requested that Graham Allen MP lead a review of early 
intervention. The interim report was published in January 2011 and highlights the importance 
of early intervention in improving children’s and ultimately adults lives. The report particularly 
focuses on the 0-3 age group as children’s brains develop from 25% to 80% of their full 
capacity during this period. 

Summary of key priorities 
In developing this Strategy we have taken account of local needs, consulted with local 
stakeholders and considered the latest national research in this area to develop a set of 
priorities that will provide the biggest benefit to the residents of Halton. 

As a result of this process we have identified the following: 

Key underlying causes of child and family poverty in Halton 

  Low family aspirations 

  A cycle of benefit dependency which can be an intergenerational issue 

Key priorities to tackle child and family poverty in Halton 

  Cultural challenge and raising aspirations 

  Early intervention 

  Whole family approach 

  Providing a single point of access to support services 

Key issues to overcome first to tackle child and family poverty in Halton 

  Ensuring that support services meet the needs of target groups now and in the future and 
are easily accessible 

  Improving the sharing of information between partners to provide greater support to 
customers 

Page 51



22

SECTION FIVE: IMPLEMENTING THE STRATEGY 

Governance 

In late 2010 the Halton Local Strategic Partnership established the Halton Child & Family 
Poverty Group to oversee the development and implementation of the Strategy. 

The Group was formally inaugurated in November 2010 and in addition to statutory partners 
prescribed by the Act, membership includes representatives from the voluntary sector and 
service users. Organisations represented on the group are set-out in Appendix ‘x’ 

The key functions of the group are to; 

a) Oversee the preparation and publication of a local child poverty needs assessment that 
understands the drivers and characteristics of child and family poverty in Halton, as 
prescribed in the act. 

b) Ensure all statutory partners are represented and engaged to carry out their duty to co-
operate to reduce, and mitigate, effects of child & family poverty in Halton. 

c) Set-out a vision for reducing child and family poverty in Halton through the publication of 
a Child Poverty Strategy which sets-out the contribution that each partner will make to 
address the issues and challenges raised in the needs assessment. 

d) Agree in consultation with statutory and wider partners the delivery and monitoring of the 
Halton Child & Family Poverty Strategy Action Plan   

e) Ensure that child and family poverty issues and needs are taken into account in the 
preparation of plans and strategies such as the Sustainable Community Strategy, 
Children & Young People’s Plan, Local Economic Assessment, and also plans relating to 
employment, skills, housing, transport, health inequalities and safer communities. 

f) Report on progress to the Halton Strategic Partnership Board.   

Administrative support is currently provided by Halton Borough Council.  

Consultation

As well as involving a wide range of our partners from the statutory and voluntary sectors at 
each key stage in the development of the strategy, we have also gone out into our 
communities and listened to the views and suggestions of as many families and young 
people of Halton on the three key questions;  

  What do you think are the causes of child and family poverty in Halton? 

  What should our priorities for action be? 

  Where should we start? 

The response has been overwhelmingly consistent and positive, with an acceptance that 
only by adopting a sustained ‘whole family’ approach will we succeed. 

Both ‘providers’ and ‘consumers’ of key services recognise that in the current difficult 
financial environment we need to make sure that scarce resources are targeted at those in 

Page 52



23

greatest need if we are to meet the challenge of delivering sustained progress towards 
eradicating child and family poverty in Halton. 

Therefore it is proposed to consult further with providers and service users during the 
development of the Action Plan during Spring 2011.

Links to Other Plans & Strategies 

The Halton Child & Family Poverty Strategy has been prepared in the context of our other 
key local plans and strategies.  It does not stand alone in isolation; it is an overarching high 
level strategy that is connected to a wide and varied range of other plans strategies that deal 
with specific topics and co-ordinate the delivery of services and projects.  

Therefore, this Strategy has been prepared to align with other key partnership plans and 
strategies. Figure 1 shows this relationship, the Strategy sits within a matrix of these plans 

that allow the Halton Strategic Partnership to deliver improvements that make a real 
different to the people of Halton. 

Challenges

At a time of major, and ongoing, reductions in the financial resources available to many key 
partners we are faced with the challenge of ‘delivering more with less’. 

Therefore, if we are to tackle the deep-rooted underlying causes of child and family poverty 
in Halton, it is only by working closely together towards shared tightly focused priorities that 
we will be able to have a significant impact on the underlying problem, and break the cycle of 
intergenerational poverty.

The primary challenge facing us will be to make effective early intervention and prevention 
with those families in the greatest need. In terms of definition, ‘prevention’ refers to activities 
to stop a problem arising in the first place. ‘Early intervention’ is activity aimed at halting the 
development of a problem which is already evident.   

Thus the distinction between the two terms relates to the stage of problem development. 
Evidence shows that this early action can reduce a dependency culture emerging and can 
lead to improved quality of life. 

There is considerable evidence in Section 3 that this is the way many of our partners are 
already working together in Halton. The challenge is to make this the way we all work.   

There are also the emerging ‘localism’, ‘personalisation’ and ‘Big Society’ agendas, all of 
which will have an impact to some degree or another on the child & family poverty agenda. 
Finally, there are the radical changes to welfare benefits, with the introduction of the single 
Universal Credit welfare benefit and the allied Work Programme, both of which will have a 
significant but as yet undetermined impact on the income and lifestyles of many families in 
poverty.

Page 53



24

Page 54



25

Action Plan 

The issues that this strategy commits us to tackle are long term, difficult ones. It may take 
several years for the work underway to make a lasting impact. Early intervention and 
prevention in health is a prime example. It can take several years of hard work before we will 
see a decrease in patients attending GP Surgeries and hospitals with established illnesses 
and a reduction in obesity, smoking and drinking to excess. 

The long time scales, together with the impact of the many current changes mentioned 
earlier mean we need to be flexible to cater for the unforeseen and allow partners to adapt to 
constantly evolving legislative and financial structures.  

Therefore, an initial twelve month Action Plan will be developed in Spring 2011. It will set out 
our starting point and agreed progress targets to help us to ‘kick start’ the delivery on the 
priorities set-out in this strategy. It is intended that the Action Plan is updated annually up to 
the next needs assessment in 2013 to keep pace with changes in external legislative, 
financial and organisational priorities and resources. 

In keeping with this strategy, we will develop the Action Plan in consultation with the LCR 
partners to ensure that our local actions contribute to reducing Child and Family Poverty 
across the Region. This will include identifying some shared priority areas which can be 
monitored to establish Regional progress. 

Equality Impact Assessment 

Under the provisions of the Equality Act 2010 we have a duty to demonstrate that we have 
taken action to consider equality issues in the development of this Strategy. 

This has been done by way of an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) which is the name of a 
process by which we have examined the Strategy in order to minimise the potential for 
discrimination against one or more groups that include people with one or more ‘protected 
characteristics’: - age, disability, gender and gender identity, race, religion/belief, marriage 
and civil partnerships, pregnancy and maternity and sexual orientation.   

Page 55



26

USEFUL LINKS  

Frank Field review ‘The Foundation Years: preventing poor children becoming poor adults’ 
http://povertyreview.independent.gov.uk/media/20254/poverty-report.pdf

Graham Allen review ‘Early Intervention: The Next Steps’ 
http://media.education.gov.uk/assets/files/pdf/g/graham%20allens%20review%20of%20early
%20intervention.pdf

National Child Poverty Unit
http://www.dwp.gov.uk/policy/child-poverty/

Halton’s Child and Family Poverty Needs Assessment 
http://cid-
9104d6a5e629b08f.office.live.com/self.aspx/ChildPoverty/CPFNeedsAssessment.pdf

Department for Work and Pensions 
http://www.dwp.gov.uk/policy/child%2Dpoverty/

Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/child-poverty

Child Poverty Action Group 
http://www.cpag.org.uk/

End Child Poverty 
http://www.endchildpoverty.org.uk/

GLOSSARY 

Liverpool City Region – The LCR comprises of the five Merseyside Authorities of Liverpool, 
Sefton, Knowsley, Wirral and St Helens, plus Halton in Cheshire. The grouping recognises 
that these areas have similar underlying issues which can be best tackled through joint 
working.

Government definitions of Child Poverty

Relative low income - The relative low income target is that less than 10% of children who 
live in qualifying households live in households that fall within the relevant income group. 
A household falls within the relevant income group, in relation to a financial year, if its 
equivalised net income for the financial year is less than 60% of median equivalised net 
household income for the financial year. 

Combined low income and material deprivation - The combined low income and material 
deprivation target is that less than 5% of children who live in qualifying households —  
(a) live in households that fall within the relevant income group, and 
(b) experience material deprivation. 

A household falls within the relevant income group, in relation to a financial year, if its 
equivalised net income for the financial year is less than 70% of median equivalised net 
household income for the financial year. 

Page 56



27

Regulations must specify the circumstances in which a child is to be regarded as 
experiencing material deprivation in a financial year. 

Absolute low income - The absolute low income target is that less than 5% of children who 
live in qualifying households live in households falling within the relevant income group. 
A household falls within the relevant income group, in relation to a financial year, if its 
equivalised net income for the financial year is less than 60% of the adjusted base amount. 
“The adjusted base amount”, in relation to a financial year, is the base amount adjusted in a 
prescribed manner to take account of changes in the value of money since the base year. 

 “the base amount” means the amount of median equivalised net 
household income for the base year; 

 “the base year” means the financial year beginning with 1 April 2010. 

Persistent poverty - In relation to a financial year (“the relevant financial year”), the persistent 
poverty target is that less than the target percentage of children who have lived in qualifying 
households during each of the survey years have lived in households that have been within 
the relevant income group in at least 3 of the survey years. 

The survey years are— 
(a) the calendar year that ends in the relevant financial year, and 
(b) the 3 previous calendar years. 

The target percentage is a percentage to be prescribed by regulations made before 2015. 

A household falls within the relevant income group, in relation to a calendar year, if its 
equivalised net income for the year is less than 60% of median equivalised net household 
income for the year. 

Instead of exercising the power conferred by subsection (3) of the Child Poverty Act, the 
Secretary of State may by regulations amend this section so as to substitute a different 
persistent poverty target for that set out in subsections (1) to (4). 

Regulations under subsection (5) may only be made— 
(a) before 2015, and 
(b) with the consent of the Commission. 

Page 57



28

APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 Halton’s Child and Family Needs Assessment 

Page 58



 - 1 - 

Halton’s Child and Family Poverty 
Needs Assessment 

The front cover image shows visual minutes that were recorded at Halton’s Child and Family 
Poverty Partner Consultation Event (July 2010) 

Page 59



 - 2 - 

1. Executive Summary (to be drafted by CRES team)..................................... 3
2. Introduction.................................................................................................. 4
3. Background.................................................................................................. 5
4. Local context.............................................................................................. 10
5. Why child and family poverty matters ........................................................ 16
6. Partners involved in tackling child and family poverty................................ 18
7. What does child and family poverty look like in Halton? ............................ 19
8. Governance ............................................................................................... 41
9. Next steps.................................................................................................. 43

Page 60



 - 3 - 

1. Executive Summary (to be drafted by CRES team) 

Two page summary to be written last] 

Page 61



 - 4 - 

2. Introduction 

Purpose of this document  

In order to address child and family poverty we need to understand the extent 
and nature of needs in Halton. This requires an in depth analysis of robust data 
and research.

Halton Borough Council’s (HBC) first Child and Family Poverty Needs 
Assessment draws heavily on both quantitative and qualitative intelligence, as 
well as information from other local needs assessments to provide a 
comprehensive picture of poverty in Halton. The needs assessment will be used 
to determine clear priorities for our local Child and Family Poverty Strategy and 
provide the foundations for strategic investment.

This Local Needs Assessment forms part of a wider Child and Family Poverty 
Needs Assessment for the Liverpool City Region (LCR).  The recommendation 
to produce a coordinated Child and Family Poverty Needs Assessment for the 
Liverpool City Region was made in the LCR analysis report – A Brighter Future: 
Working Together to Tackle Child and Family Poverty (July 2010). This analysis 

report was the first step towards a crosscutting approach to addressing the 
causes and consequences of child and family poverty across the City Region. 

Halton’s Response to Child and Family Poverty 

The Halton Strategic Partnership is fully committed to eradicating child poverty 
in line with the National targets. Child and family poverty affects everybody in 
Halton either directly or indirectly, so it is in everybody’s interests to tackle it. 
Tackling poverty requires a concerted effort by all partners, particularly where 
generations of families have been caught in poverty. Eradicating child and family 
poverty requires partnership working and as a result a wide range of activities 
can have an indirect affect on it. However the Sustainable Community Strategy 
(SCS) has a direct link with eradicating poverty. In recognition of this it is a 
requirement that the next SCS, which will be launched in 2011, supports the 
work of the Child and Family Poverty Strategy.  

On a LCR basis, Halton shares a commitment to working with partner Local 
Authorities to improve the life chance of children and families across the LCR 
and to realise the government’s ambition to eradicate poverty by 2020. LCR 
partners recognise that local areas experience common cross-boundary issues 
and there is much to be gained by working in partnership. The Liverpool City 
Region Child and Family Poverty Framework is the key mechanism for joining 
up work across the city region, both strategically and in terms of delivery. A key 
element of the Framework is the Liverpool City Region Child and Family Poverty 
Needs Assessment; of which this local needs assessment forms part of.

Page 62



 - 5 - 

3. Background 

Why do we need a child and family poverty needs assessment? 

The requirement for Local Authorities to produce a child poverty needs 
assessment was introduced by the Child Poverty Act (2010). HBC and LCR 
partners took the decision to broader the assessment to cover ‘child and family’ 
poverty in acknowledgment that poverty impacts on entire families.  

Child Poverty Act  

The Child Poverty Act received Royal Assent on the 25th March 2010. This was 
a landmark occasion for the child poverty agenda as it enshrined in law the 
Government’s commitment to eradicating child poverty by 2020. 

The Act also has important implications for the way in which Local Authorities 
are required to address child poverty.  

Main requirements of the Act for Local Authorities  

Part 2 of the Act places a number of duties on Local Authorities and other local 
delivery partners to work together to tackle child poverty, specific duties include: 

Local Child Poverty Needs Assessment - Local Authorities must make 
arrangements to prepare, publish and keep under review a local child poverty 
needs assessment. 
Joint Child Poverty Strategy - Local joint child poverty strategies must be 
developed to set out the measures partners propose to take for the purpose of 
reducing and mitigating the effects of child poverty. 
Cooperation to reduce Child Poverty - Promotes cooperation between local 
partners with a view to mitigating the effects of child poverty.  Local Authorities 
can provide staff, goods, services, accommodation or other resources, or the 
creation of a pooled fund amongst partners, to ensure the requirements of the 
act are met. 
Sustainable Community Strategy – The Act also requires responsible local 
authorities to take their responsibilities to tackle child poverty into account when 
preparing or revising their Sustainable Community Strategy. 

The Coalition Government’s Approach 

Crucially, the Child Poverty Act and the commitment to ending child poverty by 
2020 has cross-party support. Since coming into power, the Conservative – 
Liberal Democrat Coalition has pledged to maintain the 2020 goal and retain the 
Part 2 duties for local authorities. However the Coalition Government will not 
issue formal statutory guidance on Part 2 of the Act or lay regulations for local 
child poverty needs assessments, this means local areas have more flexibility to 
decide how best to response to the Child Poverty Act based on local strengths 
and priorities.

The Coalition Government’s approach to tackling child and family poverty is still 
emerging, however the view of senior politicians remains that for many work is 
the best route out of poverty.

Page 63



 - 6 - 

Emerging Policy Initiatives  

The following national policy initiatives and fiscal changes could have a major 
impact on our local child and family poverty strategy and will be closely 
monitored over the coming months:

Frank Field’s Review of Poverty and Life Chances – Labour MP for 
Birkenhead, Frank Field has been commissioned to undertake an independent 
review of poverty. The findings will be published in December 2010 and will 
include recommendations on life chances and measurements of poverty. The 
Liverpool City Region has secured strong links with the independent review, as 
Frank Field has been confirmed as the Chair of the Liverpool City Region and 
Family Poverty Commission (refer to section 8.2 for further details). 

National Child Poverty Strategy –As set out by the Child Poverty Act, the 
Government will publish the first National Child Poverty Strategy by March 2011. 
The strategy will form the government’s response to Frank Field’s Review of 
Poverty and Life Chances. 
Graham Allen’s Review on Early Intervention – The independent review 
being undertaken by MP Graham Allen focuses on how early intervention 
projects can improve the lives of the UK’s most vulnerable children. It is 
expected to conclude at the end of April 2011 (an interim report will be issued in 
January 2010)
The National Child Poverty Commission – The Child Poverty Act commits the 
government to establishing a National Commission to provide expert advice on 
child poverty strategies. An immediate action of the Liverpool City Region Child 
and Family Poverty Commission will be to establish links with the National 
Commission to help ensure that that the LCR voice is heard by central 
government, MPs and other key stakeholders.  
Welfare to Work Reforms – the welfare system is undergoing radical reforms 
to ensure that it pays to be in work. Key elements of this approach include 
increasing the conditionality of out of work benefits and improving the incentives 
to work. 

Increase in benefit conditionality - In summary, those who can work have the 
responsibility to equip themselves to find employment. Those who refuse to join 
a return to work programme will lose the right to claim out of work benefits until 
they do and people who refuse to accept reasonable job offers could lose the 
right to claim out of work benefits for three years.

The reforms also involve significant changes to the financial support received by 
lone parents. From 25 October 2010 some lone parents receiving income 
support will no longer be entitled to this benefit when their youngest child 
reaches 7 years old if they are solely claiming income support because they are 
a lone parent. 

  Incentives to work - From October 2010 the national minimum wage will 
rise from £5.80 to £5.93. People aged 21 will also benefit from the top 
rate (which was previously only compulsory for workers aged 22 or over) 
and there are also corresponding increases for younger workers.  The 
government has also announced a single universal credit system which 

Page 64



 - 7 - 

will replace all other out of work and in work benefits. A single means test 
will be applied which intends to ensure that everyone will be financially 
better off in employment. The change will be phased in over two 
Parliaments.  

These reforms, combined with the economic downturn, means that out of work 
parents will need strong support systems to find and secure sustainable ‘family 
friendly’ employment.  

Impact of Housing Benefit Reductions – Major reforms to housing benefit 
were announced in the Emergency Budget (June 2010) which will affect the 
entitlements of tenants in social and private sector accommodation. The 
headline changes include: 

  Local Housing Allowance will be capped at £250 for a one-bedroom 
property and £400 for a home of four or more bedrooms (April 2011) 

  non-dependents deductions are to be increased (April 2011)

  the Consumer Price Index will be used rather than the higher Retail Price 
Index to calculate housing benefit uprating. This  means benefit increases 
will lag behind inflation (April 2011) 

  Housing Benefit will be cut by 10% for those claiming Job Seekers 
Allowance for more than one year (April 2013) 

  social housing tenants who are deemed to be occupying a property too 
large for their needs will have their benefit reduced (April 2013). 

These reductions will have significant implications for unemployed and low paid 
working parents who depend on housing benefit to pay their rent. It is also 
reported1 that linking housing benefit to the lower CPI could lead to their being 

no private sector rent cheap enough to be paid for by housing benefit in 
England. This will impact on local authorities seeking to discharge 
homelessness duties to the private sector. 

Equality Act 2010 - The Equality Act 2010 received Royal Assent on 8 April 
2010 and the greater part of the Act came into force on 1 October 2010. The Act 
intends to provide a new cross-cutting legislative framework to protect the rights 
of individuals and advance equality of opportunity for all. The Equality Act 
targets discrimination in the work place and is an important step towards closing 
the gender pay gap; if teamed with flexible working hours and sufficient 
childcare this could help to lift many families out of ‘in-work’ poverty. The act 
also includes provisions to tackle discrimination experienced by people with 
disabilities; this is strongly welcomed as children with disabled parents face a 
significantly higher risk of living in poverty than those of non-disabled parents. 
The government is currently still considering a number of aspects of the Act, not 
all of which may be brought to force. Areas still being discussed include the 
socio-economic duty on public authorities. 

Comprehensive Spending Review - The Comprehensive Spending review 
(October 2010) contained an outline of the Coalition Government’s Spending 

                                           
1 Chartered Institute of Housing  

Page 65



 - 8 - 

Plans to 2014-2015. The announcements made by the Coalition Government 
include changes to the provision of welfare benefits and services which support 
low income families. Important announcements that have implications for 
children and families in poverty include: 

  It was confirmed that a capping system will be established to ensure that 
no workless family will receive more in welfare benefits than the take 
home pay of the average working household.

  Sure Start services will be protected in cash terms. It will be refocused on 
its original purpose of improving the life chances of disadvantaged 
children and extending 15 hours a week of early years education and 
care to all disadvantaged two year olds from 2012-13 

  From 2011-2012 the percentage of childcare costs that  low income 
families can claim through the childcare element of the working tax credit 
will be reduced from 80% to 70%

  The Education Maintenance Allowance will be refocused the most 
deprived areas.  

 Child Benefit payments will no longer be made to higher-rate tax payers 
from 2013. Although this decision does not affect low income households, 
there are concerns that it could lead to an increase in levels of child 
poverty. This is because of the cumulative impact of housing benefit 
reductions, reductions in child tax credit and an increase in working hours 
for parents to be eligible for working tax credit

The review also set out plans to reduce local government funding by 28% which 
will affect the services provided by councils to support residents.  However, it 
will not be until the Local Government Settlement is released in December when 
local authorities will know the full detail around future funding.

Against this changing policy background and tightening fiscal environment it 
makes sense that we build on our strong local and city region partnerships and 
join together to address the child and family poverty agenda.

Liverpool City Region’s Commitment to Tackling Child and Family 

Poverty 

The Liverpool City Region Chief Executives, City Region Cabinet and City 
Employment Strategy Board are fully committed to improving the life chances of 
children and families and the government’s ambition to eradicate child poverty 
by 2020.  They identified tackling Child and Family Poverty as one of their key 
priorities and fully endorsed the development of the LCR Child and Family 
Poverty Framework. An important element of the framework is the LCR Child 
and Family Poverty Needs Assessment.  

Why do we need a LCR wide Child and Poverty Needs Assessment?  

Child and family poverty is symptomatic of many factors that link to labour 
market dynamics. Given that the LCR is a functional economic area, it would 
have proved extremely difficult for local areas to produce cogent needs 
assessments for their district in isolation. It was therefore recommended that a 
City Region wide assessment be developed to provide the most realistic basis 
for making progress in tackling poverty. 

Page 66



 - 9 - 

Overview of LCR Needs Assessment  

The LCR Needs Assessment consists of an overarching city region child and 
family needs assessment which examines cross boundary drivers of poverty 
and six supporting local authority needs assessments that explore issues at 
borough and neighbourhood level. 
Appendix one illustrates the relationship between the local and city region child 
and family poverty needs assessment with other key local, city region and 
national strategies. 

Halton’s Approach to Tackling Child and Family Poverty 

Halton’s Strategic Partnership is committed to eradicating child poverty inline 
with the national goals. The detail of how we intend to do this is contained in the 
Halton Child and Family Poverty Strategy. The Strategy has been developed 
with the findings of this Needs Assessment as the building blocks to ensure that 
we fully understand the scale and scope of the problem in Halton. 

We have chosen to undertake this Needs Assessment in cooperation with the 
LCR partners in recognition of the fact that tackling persistent poverty requires 
an understanding of the problem in the wider sub-region. 

The Strategy is built on the premise that paid employment is one of the best 
ways out of poverty so the focus is on supporting residents into employment 
through maximising educational opportunities and providing support to access 
employment.

The Strategy also recognises that paid employment isn’t a guaranteed route out 
of poverty so it also focuses on ensuring that residents get the maximum 
support from the benefits system that they are entitled to.

Page 67



 - 10 - 

4. Local context 

Introduction

Halton’s Sustainable Community Strategy outlines a long-term vision for 
bringing about sustainable improvement to our Borough and has been 
developed and agreed by Halton Strategic Partnership. Sustainability is about 
balance: meeting the social, environmental and economic needs of today 
without compromising the needs of the communities of tomorrow.
This Sustainable Community Strategy for Halton (2011 – 2026) builds on our 
previous community strategy published in 2006. We have prepared it with input 
from our local community, partners and voluntary sector and detailed analysis of 
the Borough, reported in the ‘State of the Borough Report’. It sets out the vision 
and priorities for Halton to 2026 and provides an important focal point for the 
future well-being of the Borough. Its aim is not to identify every issue affecting 
the Borough, but to focus on major ones which, if addressed, would make a real 
difference. It will work as a living document which can be adapted to reflect 
changing needs, achievements and new challenges. 

A key purpose of the Sustainable Community Strategy is to ensure that the 
resources available to the partnership are targeted and used effectively to bring 
about improvements in the borough. This means: 

  Being clear and agreeing about what we need to achieve so we are all 
pulling in the same direction; 

  Maximising the funding we can generate or draw in to benefit Halton and 
developing our own resources and the capacity to help ourselves; 

  Co-operating to be more effective, cutting out duplication and waste, and 
pooling the budgets, knowledge and efforts of different organisations and 
groups where this makes sense; 

  Listening and responding to what matters most to people locally; 

  Targeting what we do to where it can make most difference; 

  Doing the kind of things that experience has shown will really work and 
be successful; 

  Checking on progress, letting people know how we are doing, and 
adjusting where necessary to keep on track. 

A general overview of conditions in the Borough 

Local Population  

Halton is one of six local authorities making up the Liverpool City Region – the 
natural economic area or labour market. The Borough has a population of 
118,700 people occupying 54,000 households. 

Since 2001, the population of Halton has increased steadily to its current 
estimate of 118,700 (2009). The total population rose from an estimate of 
118,500 in 2008; this rise was found in the Older People age-range (65+).  This 
group went from 16,800 in 2008 to 17,100 in 2009.  While the 0-15 and working 
age populations stayed the same. 

Page 68



 - 11 - 

The Halton population profile matches the general shape of that for England & 
Wales.  A few key points, showing comparisons with the England & Wales 
profile, are highlighted below: 

Halton has a higher proportion of: 

  Children and Young People, aged 1-24 

  Older working age, aged 45-59  

Halton has a lower proportion of:  

  Younger working age, aged 25-44  

  Older People, aged over 60  

In the long term (2008-2023), Halton's population is projected to grow by 4% 
from 118,500 to 122,900.  This is still lower than the North West region which is 
projected to grow by 5% and nationally which is projected to grow by 11%.  In 
Halton, younger people (0-14 year olds) are projected to grow by 7%, working 
age (15-64 year olds) are projected to decline by 6% with the older people age 
group (65+) projected to grow by 43% from 16,900 in 2008 to 24,200 in 2023. 

Following national and regional trends, Halton’s population continues to age with 
older people making up an increasing proportion of the population.  The growth 
in older people will increase the demands for both formal and informal support.
While small decreases in the working age population mean there are fewer 
people to provide and pay for this additional support. 

There are a number of other notable characteristics of the borough’s resident 
population:  

Local Economic Overview

The Jobs Market 

There are five businesses located within Halton which employ over 1,000 
people, these are; Halton Borough Council, Community Integrated Care, 
Warrington & Halton Hospital, O2 (UK) Ltd and Ineos Chlor vinyls. 

Halton has three town centres (Widnes, Runcorn Old Town and Halton Lea) and 
the quality and image of these shopping centres play an important role in 
securing economic growth and prosperity. 

Notable Characteristics

 About 96% of Halton residents are ‘White British’. This is 
comparable with the other districts in Merseyside except for 
Liverpool, where the figure is closer to 88%   

 Halton has a higher than average proportion of lone parent 
households (1 in 10 households), which are particularly 
concentrated in Halton Lea, Norton South and Windmill Hill  

 The proportion of single person households in Halton is lower 
than average

Page 69



 - 12 - 

Widnes is the largest of the three town centres containing approximately half a 
million square feet of retail floorspace in over 350 separate units and boasts 
both an indoor and an outdoor market. 

Halton Lea is the second largest (behind Widnes) of the three town centres and 
includes a custom built elevated covered shopping mall with 4 dedicated multi 
storey car parks (offering 1,950 free spaces). The enclosed centre contains 
approximately 51,000 square metres of floorspace on two levels, comprising a 
main shopping level and a balconied floor. 

Runcorn Old Town is the smallest of the three town centres being about a 
quarter the size of Widnes or Halton Lea, comprising approximately 14,000 
Sq.M. (150,000 Sq.Ft.) of retail floorspace in over 160 separate units. 

Manufacturing accounts for around 15% of jobs located in Halton, this is more 
than the national level of 10%. 

Part-time employment is slightly lower than the national average. Self 
employment is low but is becoming increasingly important as a work option. 

Qualifications and Skills

The education and skills base of the population is relatively weak. 16.8% of 
working-age residents do not hold any qualifications; higher than the national 
rate of 12.3%. Many local businesses rely more on people who commute from 
outside the Borough who have higher skills and qualifications.  The impacts of 
this are seen in wage levels, the average weekly full-time wage for a Halton 
resident is £438 which is £58 below the national average.  In comparison, the 
average weekly full-time wage for people working in Halton (not necessarily a 
Halton resident) is £482. 

Notable numbers  

 Job density (the ratio of total jobs in an area compared to 
the number of working-age residents) is slightly lower in 
Halton at 0.75 compared to 0.79 nationally. 

 Public sector jobs accounts for 15%, compared with 20% 

nationally

Page 70



 - 13 - 

Working Age Benefits

Overall ‘out of work’ benefits are high at 20% in Halton compared to 13% 
nationally. Entrenched benefit dependency is reflected in particularly high 
numbers claiming Incapacity Benefit (IB)/Employment Support Allowance (ESA) 
for two or more years; making the task of getting people into work more difficult. 
Lone Parent Benefit claimants and Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) claimants are 
also higher than nationally. 

Financial Outlook

Looking to the future, for our residents there is a stark economic reality that, if 
the recession deepens, then many more are vulnerable and not just people in 
less deprived areas; if it improves, then recovery is likely to take longer as there 
will be fierce competition for jobs including those who are skilled and have 
recently been made redundant. 

In purely financial terms, inflationary pressures, and the rise in VAT will have a 
disproportionate impact on those with lower incomes. For those with mortgages, 
interest rates rising even to 2% or 3% (historically very low) from the current 
0.5% rate could lead to even greater difficulty. 

Notable numbers  

 About 11% of working age people claim Incapacity 
Benefits/ESA (8,530 people) compared with 6.3% 
nationally; with 78% of all IB claimants claiming for 2 
years or more. 

 Halton’s JSA claimant level is 5% of the working age 
population compared to 3.5% nationally. 

 Halton’s Lone Parent Benefits claimant level is 2.8% of 

the working age population compared to 1.8% nationally. 

Notable numbers  

 At the age of 19, only 14.3% of Halton residents have 
achieved a NVQ Level 3 qualification, compared with 
22.6% nationally 

 Almost 17% of working age residents in Halton have no 
qualifications, compared with 13.8% regionally and 12.3% 
nationally.

Page 71



 - 14 - 

Deprivation  

As a result of its industrial legacy, particularly from the chemical industries, 
Halton has inherited a number of physical, environmental and social problems. 
We have been working to resolve these issues ever since the borough was 
formed in 1974. 

Halton shares many of the social and economic problems more associated with 
its urban neighbours on Merseyside.  The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) for 
2007 is one of the most comprehensive sources of deprivation indicators, as 
some 37 different indicators are used.  It shows for example that overall, Halton 
is ranked 30th nationally (a ranking of 1 indicates that an area is the most 
deprived), which is third highest on Merseyside, behind Knowsley and Liverpool, 
and 10th highest in the North West, although this is an improvement on being 
fifth highest in 2004.  Other authorities, St Helens (47th), Wirral (60th) and 
Sefton (83rd), are all less deprived compared to Halton. 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation for 2007 suggests that deprivation has 
improved in the borough, since ranking 21st in 2004 there has been a decrease 
in 2007 to the 30th most deprived Authority in England. The proportion of 
Halton’s population in the top category (i.e. the top 20% of super output areas) 
has also decreased from 50% in 2004 to 47% in 2007. However, there is still 
room for improvement. Halton’s concentration of deprivation has improved from 
20th worst in England in 2004 to 27th in 2007. Concentration is a key way of 
identifying hot spots of deprivation within an area. Of England’s 975 ‘Super 
Output Areas’, which form the top 3% most deprived areas within England, eight 
are situated in Halton. The most deprived neighbourhood in Halton is ranked 
306th out of 32,482 and is situated in Central Runcorn. Much has been done but 
clearly there is still much to do. 

The category that contains the largest percentage of Halton’s households is 
defined by ACORN as ‘hard-pressed’, containing 37% of Halton’s households.
According to the ACORN definition this is the category that contains the poorest 
areas of the UK.  These people are experiencing the most difficult social and 
economic conditions in the whole country.  However, Halton also has a high 
percentage (27%) classed as “comfortably off”.  Again according to the ACORN 
profile these are well educated and mostly prosperous people living in our major 
towns.  These people have a cosmopolitan outlook and enjoy their urban 
lifestyle.

Liverpool City Region Context  

Halton’s local economy is deeply interconnected with the wider Liverpool City 
Region economic area. The Liverpool City Region has a population of 1.5m 
covering the boroughs of Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, St Helens and 
Wirral. Around 90% of residents live and work in the City Region; this is one of 
the most contained employment markets in the country2.

Economic activity is widely spread across the Liverpool City Region: 

                                           
2 LCR Employment and Skills Strategy and Commissioning Framework

Page 72



 - 15 - 

  Liverpool as the commercial, cultural and transport hub and a world-class 
city for business and knowledge.  

  Sefton as the base of the primary port at Seaforth and the classic tourist 
resort of Southport.

  Halton has chemicals and the science and technology base of Daresbury, 
together with a significant logistics and distribution base for the City 
Region at 3MG.

 Knowsley, St Helens and Wirral provide key business locations for 
advanced manufacturing and logistics for the City Region.

It is important to highlight that on many economic indicators LCR has enjoyed 
an absolute improvement over 5 years; however the position on LCR’s 
performance relative to England is more mixed.

Impact of public sector spending reductions  

The public sector is a major employer in the LCR accounting for around 200,000 
jobs and making up a particularly large percentage of employment in Knowsley, 
Liverpool, Sefton and Wirral. Approximately 35% of LCR’s jobs are in public 
administration, education or health, which is markedly higher than the wider 
economic hinterland’s. 

Given this reliance on pubic sector, it is anticipated that the national reductions 
in public expenditure will have a significant impact on LCR employment and 
consequently child and family poverty rates.  A recent national study by 
Experian3 has found that all six LCR areas are amongst the 20% least resilient 

districts to economic shocks, such as public sector cuts.  

                                           
3 Local Economic Resilience, Experian (2010) 

Notable numbers  

If LCR mirrored the England average currently the region 
would have: 

 46,000 less people without any qualifications 

 26,400 more people with a level 2 qualification 
(equivalent to 5 GCSEs) 

 43,800 more people with a level 4 qualification 
(equivalent to a Degree); 

 In addition if LCR met the Governments 80% 
employment rate it would need to move an additional 
120,000 more people into work

Page 73



 - 16 - 

5. Why child and family poverty matters  
Children growing up in poverty are deprived of a fair start in life. A child from a 
poor family is: 

  More likely to experience unsafe environments 

  More likely to suffer social isolation  

  More likely to experience a wide range of health inequalities  

  More likely to suffer from poverty of aspiration  

  Less likely to achieve their academic potential  

  Less likely to gain access to the services designed to meet their needs  

These early inequalities often continue into later life and limit children’s chances 
of achieving economic wellbeing and escaping poverty. 

The intergenerational cycle of poverty is not just damaging to the lives of 
children and families it is detrimental to society as a whole. It undermines our 
wider efforts to achieve sustainable and cohesive communities through our key 
partnership strategies.

Poverty also has significant resource implications for the public sector. Tangible 
costs include those of remedial services and the foregone taxes and benefits 
resulting from the reduced future employment and earning prospects of those 
who grow up poor. 

A study by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2008) estimates that child poverty 
costs the public sector around £12 billion a year. Of this approximately 60 per 
cent funds personal social services, school education and police and criminal 
justice.

Notable numbers  

 Children growing up in poverty are 37 times more 
likely to die as a result of exposure to smoke, fire 
and flames 

 Children in disadvantaged families are three times as 
likely to suffer mental health disorders 

 Children in poverty are twice as likely to be homeless 
or trapped in bad housing 

 Nearly one in five girls and more than one in four 
boys in receipt of free school meals (a key poverty 
indicator) leave school without at least five GCSEs 

 Paid work is not on its own, a guarantee of being 
free of poverty. Over half the children in poverty are 
in households where one or more parent is in full-
time work.

Page 74



 - 17 - 

Whilst calculations of this nature cannot be exact the estimates serve to 
highlight the growing urgency to address child and family poverty collectively 
and particularly given the increasing pressures on public finances.

Page 75



 - 18 - 

6. Partners involved in tackling child and family 
poverty

No individual service or organisation can eradicate poverty by working alone.  
Child and family poverty is a complex issue that requires a multiagency 
response.

The Child Poverty Act, names several partners that have a statutory duty to 
cooperate and support efforts to reduce poverty, these are: 

  The district authorities (other than the local authority) who deliver key 
services including housing benefits and securing local facilities for 
families

  Primary Care Trusts and Strategic Health Authorities

  Job Centre Plus 

  The Police, Youth Offending Service and Probation Trusts 

  Transport Authorities  

We recognise that this not an exhaustive list and there are additional key 
partners that can help us to reduce and respond to child and family poverty.
Our approach to tackling child and family poverty to date has involved a wide 
spectrum of public services, the private sector, community and voluntary 
organisations and children and families.  Some of the engagement activities are 
described below: 

A Brighter Future – Liverpool City Region Child and Family Poverty 

Consultation Event for Halton 

In July 2010 a consultation event was undertaken with local partners in Halton to 
gain an understanding of the impact of child and family poverty. Group 
discussions were held to gain an insight into the perceived barriers and 
opportunities to tackling child and family poverty locally and across the LCR.

Appendix 1 provides a detailed list of the partners we are engaged with on this 
agenda and how they are involved.  It also identifies partners that we need to 
work with in the future.  

Page 76



 - 19 - 

7. What does child and family poverty look like in 
Halton?

This section of Halton’s child and family poverty needs assessment sets out the 
main evidence of the depth and spread of poverty in the Borough based on 
quantitative data, alongside the qualitative intelligence that highlights the nature 
of the causes and consequences of poverty.  

A large volume of data has been considered in preparing this assessment; 
however, much of the data often reinforces or duplicates other intelligence, so to 
include all of it might only serve to obscure the key messages.  More detail is 
available in the State of the Borough document or on request from the Research 
team; Research@halton.gov.uk

For example, data on Free School Meals (FSM) eligibility reflects patterns of 
benefits dependency – patterns that are described using DWP data in some 
detail in this section - so data on FSM itself will not be included here.  Issues 
around social housing and ethnicity are also not covered extensively here, but 
relevant data can be found in the State of the Borough. 

Social housing in Halton is of high quality in terms of all official measures of 
liveability, and therefore the housing itself may be considered to have little 
impact on child and family poverty.  The location of a property, however, will be 
much more significant, but that is again reflected in the other data analysis and 
maps included here.

In terms of ethnicity, a national or regional analysis might suggest that ethnic 
minority groups are at greater risk of poverty, but this becomes more complex 
when examining local areas.  For example, in Halton, where a small proportion 
of the population are in BME groups (around 2.5%), there is no evidence that 
they are more likely to experience low or poverty-level incomes or higher levels 
of worklessness than any other group. Anecdotal evidence suggests the 
contrary – many in the local Asian community are known to be employed in the 
medical professions, for example.  Even in thriving BME families, cultural factors 
– diet, for example - may still have an impact on general child wellbeing.  These 
issues require greater study before inclusion in the assessment.  

Some data has specifically been excluded from this analysis, namely data from:

  The 2001 Census – This reflects conditions 10 years ago.   

  The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2007 – Whilst published in 2007, 
much the data used to compile this is now 5 years old, and it also uses 
2001 Census data.   

  The Child Wellbeing Index 2009 – Again whilst published in January 
2009, the data used to compile this is predominantly from 2005 and from 
the 2001 Census.

  The 2008 Place Survey – The methodology prescribed for this survey 
resulted in heavy structural bias towards older age groups in the 
population.  As a reflection of this, weighted results calculated to remove 

Page 77



 - 20 - 

this bias were sometimes as much as 12% points different from the un-
weighted results.  

These data sources are extremely useful when contemporary, but at the 
moment they represent significant intelligence gaps.  The next Census is of 
course due to take place in March 2011.  The next IMD refresh has been subject 
to national consultation and it is not yet clear if an IMD 2010 will be developed.  
The Place Survey has been cancelled and, while there are some discussions 
across the City Region about a potential alternative to this, there are no central 
government plans.  The Child Wellbeing Index was developed in response to 
consultation on the IMD 2007 and was in many ways experimental.  There are 
no clear plans to develop it further.

New data used in this assessment

Given the weaknesses in the data sources referred to above, it is necessary to 
seek alternatives that are equally comprehensive, comparable at national, 
regional and sub-regional level, reliable, and as contemporary as possible.  In 
addition to generally available data from central government sources, three key 
data sets have been used in this assessment:

 Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) data on out-of-work 
benefits claimants; this data relates specifically to benefits dependency, 
its primary purpose is to describe the distribution of poverty, as opposed 
to wider ‘wellbeing’. 

 Halton Vitality Index; The Halton Vitality Index (HVI) has been 
developed by the Council’s Research & Intelligence Unit to enable 
monitoring of deprivation at a neighbourhood level to take place and to 
assess whether the gap is narrowing across the borough. 

 Experian Economic Resilience Index; this has been recently produced 
by Experian for the BBC, and is being used in this assessment to provide 
some evidence about the impact of the recession and subsequent 
government measures. 

The DWP measure of child poverty

The DWP currently defines child poverty in terms of the proportion of dependent 
children in a Local Authority who live in households whose equivalised income is 
below 60% of the contemporary national median.  This level of income is 
experienced by many who are actually in work, so both in-work and out-of-work 
poverty are equally important.  

Data has recently been released by Her Majesties Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC) illustrating the number of children in households experiencing relative 
poverty, based on the above definition.  This data is available at Lower Super 
Output Area level.  There are 79 SOAs in Halton, each covering around 1,600 
residents.

There now exists three years of data – 2006-2008 - providing an opportunity to 
look at the change in poverty over that period in the run up to the global financial 
crisis and subsequent national recession. Clearly, poverty is not likely to have 

Page 78



 - 21 - 

improved since then.  The latest data, 2008, Halton had 26.4% of children living 
in poverty.  This equated to 6,550 children. 

% of Children (under 16) in "Poverty" 2006-2008 

District 2006 2007 2008

Halton 27.1% 26.7% 26.4%

Knowsley 34.6% 35.0% 33.8%

Liverpool 36.7% 37.1% 35.6%

Sefton 25.3% 25.7% 25.4%

St Helens 21.1% 21.2% 20.7%

Wirral 25.0% 25.5% 25.2%

England 21.8% 22.4% 21.6%

Source: Her Majesties Revenue and Customs Data 

The map below shows the data at Lower Super Output Area (LSOA).   

% of children in poverty by LSOA (2008) 

Source: Her Majesties Revenue and Customs Data 

Page 79



 - 22 - 

The chart below shows the data by ward comparing it to the Halton overall 
figure.  12 of the 21 wards in Halton have a higher figure than the Borough 
overall.  The ward with the highest percentage of children in “poverty” is 
Windmill Hill ward where over 50% of children are living in “poverty”. 

% of children in poverty by ward (2008) 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

A
pp

le
to

n

B
ee

ch
w
oo

d

B
irc

hf
ie
ld

B
ro

ad
he

at
h

D
ar

es
bu

ry

D
itt
on

Far
nw

or
th

G
ra

ng
e

H
al
e

H
al
to

n 
Bro

ok

H
al
to

n 
C
as

tle

H
al
to

n
Le

a

H
al
to

n 
Vie

w

H
ea

th

H
ou

gh
 G

re
en

K
in
gs

w
ay

M
er

se
y

N
or

to
n 

N
or

th

N
or

to
n

S
ou

th

R
iv
er

si
de

W
in

dm
ill

H
ill

%

Source: Her Majesties Revenue and Customs Data 

The table below compares the number of children (under 16) living in “poverty” 
by “in work” and “out of work” for 2008.

In work and out of work “poverty” 2008 

District Out of work In work 

Halton 5,520 1,030

Knowsley 9,265 1,165

Liverpool 24,695 3,295

Sefton 6,980 1,300

St Helens 8,155 1,670

Wirral 12,650 2,240 

Source: Her Majesties Revenue and Customs Data:  “Out of work” families are 
classed as children living in Income Support/Job Seekers Allowance families.  
“In work” are children living in families claiming child tax credit & working tax 
credit or child tax credit only with an income <60% median income. 

The number of children in benefit recipient families (not necessarily conforming 
to the DWP Child Poverty indicator) has been calculated separated by the 

Halton

Page 80



 - 23 - 

HMRC.  In 2008-09, Halton had 7,550 children in households claiming out-of-
work benefits and 7,480 children in households claiming in-work benefits. 

Key Messages 

Whilst it remains a significant issue in Halton, the number of families 
experiencing both in-work poverty and out of work poverty in Halton has 
reduced since 2006.

In overall terms, more neighbourhoods experienced a decrease in poverty 
during 2006-08 than an increase, although for many neighbourhoods’ it remains 
a significant issue. 

Halton Vitality Index 

The Halton Vitality Index (HVI) has been developed by the Council’s Research & 
Intelligence Unit to enable monitoring of deprivation at a neighbourhood level to 
take place and to assess whether the gap is narrowing across the borough.  It’s 
not been developed to replace the Index of Multiple Deprivation or to be 
compared to it but to offer a more up to date monitoring tool given the delay in 
updating the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD).  It should also be noted that 
the data used to inform the IMD 2007 was largely based on 2005 data. 

The table below shows the 13 indicators that have been used to produce the 
HVI 2010. The indicators were chosen due to the following reasons: 

  Aim to include a limited number of indicators covering a range of relevant 
issues

  Data available at significant level to enable small area - Lower Super 
Output Area (LSOA) - comparisons 

  The data had to be easily available to the Research & Intelligence unit 

  The index should be updated and reported at least annually 

Page 81



 - 24 - 

Each of the 13 indicators used are standardised, which results in each indicator 
having an average score of 10.  The scores are added together to produce an 
overall score, therefore an ‘average’ area has a score of 130.  A more detailed 
methodology is available from research@halton.gov.uk.

Details of the 13 indicators used in the Halton Vitality Index 

Theme Data Definition Source

Relative House 
Price 

Using average house price of LSOA*, with 
Halton average as a base (Halton=100) 

Land
Registry 

Housing
Council Tax 
Band A 

% of properties within Council Tax Band A 
Council Tax 
Register 

Unemployment 
rate

% working age pop claiming JSA (average of 
last 12 months JSA claimant counts) - rolling 
12 months data 

Nomis 

Unemployment 
& Income Working Age 

Benefit
Recipients 

% working age pop receiving key benefits
1

(average of last 4 quarters' counts) - rolling 12 
months data 

Nomis 

Burglaries by 
households 

No of burglaries in households crimes as a rate 
per 1,000 households - rolling 12 months data 

Co-Star 
Cheshire 
PoliceCommunity 

Safety 
Anti-Social
behaviour 

No of ASB incidents as a rate per 1,000 
population - rolling 12 months data 

Co-Star 
Cheshire 
Police

GCSE 5+ A*-C 
inc English and 
Maths

% of pupils achieving 5+ GCSE's at grades A* 
to C including English and Maths 

HBC

Education

NEET
% 16-18 year olds Not in Employment, 
Education or Training (NEETs) 

Connexions 

People needing 
care 

% of total pop claiming Attendance Allowance 
or Disability Living Allowance (average of last 4 
quarters' counts) - rolling 12 months data 

Dept Work & 
Pensions 

Health

Standard
Mortality Ratio 

Standard Mortality Ratio (Halton=100) 
Halton & St 
Helens PCT 

Long-term 
vacancy 

% households vacant for more than 6 months 
Council Tax 
Register 

Physical 
environment 

No. of criminal damage to dwelling crimes plus 
no. of deliberate fires as a rate per 1,000 
households - rolling 12 months data 

Co-Star / 
Cheshire 
Fire

Sustainable 
Communities 

Population
change 

% total population change from previous years 
estimate to latest years estimate 

ONS

*The results of the HVI will be available at Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) 
geography.  These are areas that are smaller than wards and tend to have a 
population of around 1,600. There are 79 in Halton. 

1Key benefits include Job Seekers Allowance, Employment and Support 
Allowance (Incapacity Benefit), Lone Parents and Others on income related 
benefits.

Page 82



 - 25 - 

The map shows the scores for the Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) across 
Halton.  The red areas are the more deprived areas according to the HVI whilst 
the dark green areas are the least deprived. 

Halton Vitality Index, May 2010 scores for LSOAs in Halton 

Kingsway ward contains the most deprived LSOA whilst Birchfield ward contains 
the least deprived LSOA.  To help narrow down the areas in need of most 
improvement, the next map highlights, in red, the top 10 most deprived LSOAs 
from the HVI and in green the top 10 least deprived LSOAs. 

Page 83



 - 26 - 

Top 10 most and least deprived LSOAs according to the HVI, May 

2010

Page 84



 - 27 - 

Income Statistics

For this analysis, we have looked at household income statistics available from 
a research company called CACI.  The product - PayCheck profiles all 1.6 
million postcodes in the UK using information on over 4 million households from 
lifestyle surveys and Census and Market Research data.  Firstly, we have 
looked at how Halton compares in terms of average household income to the 
rest of the sub-region. 

Average Household Income (2009) 

Source: CACI Income Data, 2009  

Average household incomes in all LCR districts are lower than the national 
average. Halton has the fourth highest household income (£29,916) of all LCR 
districts.

What differences exist throughout Halton? 

The ward with the lowest average household income in Halton is Windmill Hill 
(£23,721.56). This is the only ward in Halton to have an average household 
income lower than £25,000.

Conversely, there are two wards in Halton with an average household income 
greater than £50,000. These are Birchfield (£56,421.36) and Daresbury 
(£51,943.27). These are the two highest average household incomes of all LCR 
wards in 2009. 

District
Average
Household
Income (£)

Halton £29,916

Knowsley  £28,143

Liverpool £26,380

Sefton £30,659

St Helens  £30,223

Wirral  £34,452 

North West £33,239

England £35,408

Page 85



 - 28 - 

Average Household Income (Ward) (2009) 

Source: CACI Household Income 2009 

Key Messages

The average household income in Halton is lower than the LCR, regional and 
national average. 

In spite of this, Halton contains the two wards with the highest average 
household incomes of all LCR wards in 2009.  This highlights the variation of 
household income across the Borough. 

Ward Name 
Mean
Income 2009

Windmill Hill £23,721.56

Halton Castle (Castlefields) £26,212.29

Halton Lea £26,927.17

Appleton £27,123.56

Grange £27,174.24

Norton South £28,389.73

Mersey £28,458.31

Riverside £28,548.85

Kingsway £29,889.04

Broadheath £30,153.86

Hough Green £30,391.42

Halton Brook £30,477.09

Ditton £30,632.13

Halton View £31,617.88

Heath £34,122.17

Hale £37,371.32

Norton North £39,986.28

Farnworth £40,321.17

Beechwood £42,141.86

Daresbury £51,943.27

Birchfield £56,421.36

Page 86



 - 29 - 

Out-of-work benefits claimants  

Benefits claimant data from the DWP has been as part of a specific data sharing 
agreement with the Liverpool City Region. This includes claimant data for Job 
Seekers Allowance (JSA), Incapacity Benefit and Employment Support 
Allowance (IB/ESA), and Lone Parents benefits (LP). It is provided at Output 
Area (OA) level (areas of roughly equal populations: approximately 40 
households or 120 people). This data has been made available for 2007, 2008, 
2009 and 2010, and therefore provides the opportunity to study change over 
time, as well as duration of claims. Because this data relates specifically to 
benefits dependency, it should be considered as a close proxy indicator for 
poverty, as opposed to wider ‘wellbeing’.

The volume of data provided is enormous as is the number of ways in which it 
can be analysed. In this assessment, we have focused on three of the most 
telling perspectives:  

1. Long-term IB/ESA claimants. The vast majority of IB/ESA claimants have 
been receiving these benefits for over two years. This reflects the entrenched 
nature of poverty.

2. Short-term JSA claimants.  Those claiming JSA for less than six months 
represent those with the greatest potential to get back into work and provide one 
way of identifying the potential to reduce poverty in specific parts of the 
Borough. They also represent those most at risk of becoming longer-term 
unemployed, so this is a key group to monitor and where interventions might 
have greatest significance in terms of reducing poverty.  

3. Lone Parents benefits claimants. This data is one of the most direct 
sources of intelligence about the number and location of households where child 
poverty is definitely an issue.

Page 87



 - 30 - 

Incapacity Benefit / Employment Support Allowance  

Incapacity Benefit (IB) / Employment Support Allowance are the key contributory 
benefits for people who are incapable of work because of illness or disability. In 
order to qualify for IB, claimants must be incapable of work, not entitled to 
Statutory Sick Pay and have sufficient National Insurance contributions. Due to 
recent changes in the state pension age, percentage of population receiving 
IB/ESA have been calculated using a working age population cohort of 16-64 for 
both men and women.

In May 2010, more than 12,500 residents were claiming IB/ESA in Halton.

Knowsley had the highest IB/ESA claimant rate of all LCR districts in February 
2010 (12.9%). This was greater than the LCR, NW and England and Wales 
averages (10.9%, 8.8% and 6.5% respectively).

From February 2009 to February 2010, IB/ESA claimant rates in Knowsley 
increased by 0.1 percentage point. IB/ESA claimant rates in LCR also increased 
over this period, from 10.8 to 10.9. Regional and national rates remained stable 
over this time.  

IB/ESA working age claimant rates % (February 2009 – February 

2010)

District

Feb-09 May-09 Aug-09 Nov-09 Feb-10

Halton 10.7 10.7 10.7 10.8 10.9

Knowsley 12.8 12.8 12.8 12.8 12.9

Liverpool 12.1 12.1 12.1 12.1 12.1

Sefton 8.9 8.9 8.9 8.9 8.9

St Helens 10.5 10.4 10.4 10.4 10.4

Wirral 9.9 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0

LCR 10.8 10.9 10.9 10.9 10.9

North West 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8 8.8

England 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5 6.5

Source: NOMIS, DWP WACG

Long-term IB/ESA claimants  

The following map shows the distribution of IB/ESA claimants who have been 
receiving one or other of these benefits for at least two years.
The red and dark green areas on the map have the higher numbers of 
claimants.

Based on the nature of the data used, this map can be interpreted to illustrate the 

areas where claimant dependency is most entrenched in the Borough. 

Page 88



 - 31 - 

Number of IB/ESA claimants 

Source: DWP 

Key Messages

Halton has a disproportionately high number (12,500) of people who are 
dependent on IB/ESA, and this dependency is entrenched across relatively 
large parts of the Borough, particularly in the wards of Halton Castle 
(Castlefields), Windmill Hill and Halton Lea. 

Page 89



 - 32 - 

Job-Seekers Allowance  

In September 2010, Halton had the lowest number of JSA claimants of all LCR 
districts (3,904). 

Compared with the same point in the previous year, Halton experienced the 
second greatest percentage decrease in claimant count (-13.2%) compared with 
other LCR districts. 

JSA claimant count (September 2010) 

District Sep-09 Sep-10
% change in JSA 

claimant count 

Halton 4,498 3,904 -13.2

Knowsley 6,289 5,591 -11.1

Liverpool 21,514 19,422 -9.7

Sefton 8,678 8,055 -7.2

St Helens 5,710 5,099 -10.7

Wirral 10,353 8,481 -18.1 

LCR 57,042 50,552 -11.4 

North West 199,744 178,176 -10.8 

England 1,408,051 1,251,142 -11.1 

Source: NOMIS, JSA claimant count [downloaded 27/10/10] 

Short-term JSA claimants

The red and dark green areas on the map have the higher numbers of 
claimants. The general pattern suggests that short-term JSA claimants are 
widely distributed across all areas of the Borough. The implication is that whilst 
the numbers are small relative to IB/ESA claimants, if they fail to enter or re-
enter employment, and become longer-term unemployed, this will impact in 
most areas; the effect will not be concentrated in specific neighbourhoods. 

Based on the nature of data used, this map can be interpreted to show those areas 

where there is greatest potential to move people from unemployment and into work. 

These areas are key to directly limiting perhaps the main cause of poverty. 

Page 90



 - 33 - 

Number of JSA Claimants 

Source: DWP 

Key Messages

Among all benefit claimants, those on JSA for less than 6 months offer the best 
hope of return to work, and work is the most effective way out of poverty.

The evidence of a large reduction in the Halton JSA claimant count suggests 
that the Borough has been effective in getting people off this benefit, particularly 
in comparison to the LCR.  However, the destinations of these people (in terms 
of work and wage level) are less clear, and may contribute to the evidenced 
increase of in-work poverty. 

Lone Parent benefits claimants  

Again, numbers are not as high as IB/ESA claimants, but they are greater than 
short-term JSA claimants. On the map below, the darkest green OAs each has 
25-35 Lone Parents claiming benefits; the yellow OAs have five or fewer. 

Based on the nature of the data used, this map can be interpreted to highlight areas 

where a specific group of children are definitely affected by poverty-level household 

incomes alongside other factors that are likely to impact on their general wellbeing. 

Page 91



 - 34 - 

Number of Lone Parent benefit claimants 

Source: DWP

‘

Key Messages

Whilst not an indicator of general poverty, data on lone parent benefit claimants 
can be used to highlight neighbourhoods where some children are most likely o 
be living in relative poverty conditions, with potentially less parental support, and 
limited potential for the household to move out of poverty. 

Out of work’ benefits 

The benefits included within the calculation are Job Seekers Allowance, ESA 
(Incapacity Benefit), Lone Parents and Others on income related benefits. The 
number of these claimants are released on a quarterly basis, these figures are 
then given as a proportion of the working-age population (16-64). 

Working Age Client Group data is provided by the Department for Work and 
Pensions, an advantage of this dataset is that double counting of claimants on 
more than one benefit has been removed so that users will get a more accurate 
picture of worklessness at a small area level.   

Page 92



 - 35 - 

19.1% of the working age population are claiming ‘out of work’ benefits in 
Halton.  Windmill Hill ward has the highest percentage of claimants with 36.2% 
of the working age population claiming ‘out of work’ benefits. 

Working age people claiming out of work benefits, Halton and 

Wards, May-10 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

A
pp

le
to

n

B
ee

ch
w
ood

B
irc

hf
ie

ld

B
ro

adh
eat

h

D
ar

es
bu

ry

D
itt

on

Farn
w
or

th

G
ra

ng
e

H
al
e

H
al
to

n 
B
ro

ok

H
al
to

n
C
ast

le
(C

as
tle

fie
ld

s)

H
al
to

n 
Lea

H
al
to

n
V
ie

w

H
ea

th

H
ou

gh
G

re
en

K
in

gs
w
ay

M
er

se
y

N
or

to
n 

N
or

th

N
or

to
n 

S
ou

th

R
iv
er

si
de

W
in

dm
ill
 H

ill

%

Halton

Following piloting with Local Authorities, the out of work benefits claimant figures 
have been released at Census Output Area (which are spatial areas containing 
around 80-150 households).  These figures enable us to identify pockets of ‘out 
of work’ benefit claimants at small area, the figures are shown on the following 
map for the Census Output Areas in Halton. 

Page 93



 - 36 - 

Out of work benefit claimants, Census Output Areas in Halton, May-

10

Experian Economic Resilience Index

Resilience is a concept used to describe the ability of an area to withstand and 
respond to shocks in the external environment. Experian (the company that 
produces ‘Mosaic’) recently created an index in order to rank districts in terms of 
their resilience. 

It is important to note that this research does not report the local areas which will 
suffer the greatest amounts of public sector cuts. The work ranks areas in terms 
of their ability to respond to economic shocks, such as public sector cuts.
The factors that underpin regional resilience have been based on 4 broad 
themes:

  Business  

  Community  

  People  

  Place  

Page 94



 - 37 - 

Underneath each of the four themes sit a number of variables – 33 in total - 
dictated, in part, by how much data was available at local authority level.
As such, data can be sorted and analysed by variable allowing an 
understanding of which factors impact local economic resilience and how these 
compare across geographies.

The table below is an extract from a larger one that illustrates the Overall Index 
of Resilience and theme ranks out of 324 lower tier local authorities. The extract 
has been selected to show only districts within the North West, and the portion 
of the table that includes all of the LCR districts.

The higher the rank, the less resilient a district is. The table is presented in 
descending order with the least resilient at the top. The cells in the table are 
colour-coded to highlight national quartiles (Red = worst, Green = best); so it is 
clear that all of the LCR districts are in the worst quartile for overall resilience.  

Halton’s rank overall is 283 out of 324. The Borough fares better under the 
‘Place’ theme (ranked 206) than under the ‘Business’, ‘Community’ and ‘People’ 
themes; however, the general picture is unsurprisingly one of relatively low 
resilience. 

Overall Index of Resilience 

LA Resilience Business Community People Place

Barrow-in-
Furness

318 315 250 297 313

Burnley 314 294 285 253 324

Tameside 307 307 271 248 279

 Pendle 305 296 289 240 308

Blackpool 303 244 273 320 321

Hyndburn 301 301 262 312 232

Oldham 300 302 304 263 237

St Helens 299 310 301 282 179

Rochdale 298 286 322 266 281

Wigan 296 309 266 262 216

Wirral 288 314 307 144 172

Liverpool 287 281 323 268 214

Knowsley 285 257 308 305 238

Halton 283 267 315 281 206

Sefton 274 293 290 230 113

Source: Experian Economic Resilience Index 

The following page provides an overview of the detail measures underpinning 
Halton’s resilience ranks within each of the themes. 

Page 95



 - 38 - 

Theme National Rank

Business 267

Community 315

People 281

Place 206

Business Variables (50% Weighting)

% Vulnerable Sectors 294

% Resilient Sectors 281

High Growth (Knowledge) Sectors 168

Business Births 114

% Self Employed 315

Days Beyond Terms (DBT) 210

Foreign Owned 10

Exporters 4

Exporting SICs 7

Adaptive Capacity 133

Insolvency Rates 272

ABI Resilient Employees 267

Business Density 318

ABI Vulnerable Employees 82

Community Variables (17% Weighting)

Life Expectancy Male 319

Life Expectancy Female 323

Claimant Count 300

Vulnerable to LT Unemployment 280

Vulnerable to declines in disposable inc 97

Social Cohesion 250

% wards amongst 10% most deprived 150

People Variables (17% Weighting)

NVQ4 + (APS) 297

No Qualifications 297

% Emp as Corporate Managers 271

% Emp in Elementary Occupations 190

Earnings 274

Working Age Population (Growth) 80

Place Variables (17% Weighting)

House Price 263

Number of Pupils A*-C (age 16-19) 137

Total Crime 264

ERV commercial office space 166

Previously Developed Land (PDL) 66

Greenspace as % of total Land 246

Page 96



 - 39 - 

It’s worth noting that Business variables account for 50% of the index; however, 
Halton’s residents are heavily dependent on businesses in neighbouring districts 
for jobs. It is therefore the resilience of these areas that are of greater 
significance. 

Key Messages 

Prevailing economic conditions create challenging circumstances for any district, 
but Halton’s underpinning economic weaknesses make these challenges far 
more daunting. 

The borough ranks as highly resilient in terms of the export trade and foreign 
owner businesses resident in Halton.  This is offset by the low rankings around 
community variables.  Halton’s resilience rankings for life expectancy and 
claimant count are amongst the lowest in the country. 

Halton is heavily dependent on neighbouring areas and the wider City Region 
labour market for jobs, meaning that the resilience of other areas is very 
relevant to the Borough. 

Residents in employment outside Halton are dependent on transport  - 
increasing fuel costs will become a major pressure on their ability to afford to 
retain jobs. 

This index does not provide a definitive measure of resilience, but does support a 

general and important message about the economic fragility of the Borough. 

Additional qualitative intelligence

Whilst there are many individual data sets from different sources that could be 
analysed and interpreted separately to tell us about Child and Family Poverty, 
the Experian Resilience Index and HVI data already take a number of these into 
account.  Therefore, this report focuses on those key sources of information 
together with information from DWP around out out-of-work benefits.  Qualitative 
information has been structured in the same way to support the quantitative 
data.  However lots of information has been gained about how people feel about 
and view Child and Family Poverty that has not been captured above and these 
comments are noted below: 

Qualitative Intelligence

  The complexities of the benefits system can prevent people from 
claiming what they are entitled to. There are also issues around people 
being unaware they are entitled to benefits. This can cause a low take 
up, which results in people not being able to lift themselves out of 
poverty.

  A culture of worklessness can create cultural barriers with many 

Page 97



 - 40 - 

parents not having experience of work or higher education. In turn this 
can result in low expectations of adults (professional and parental) with 
nobody expecting poor children to achieve further embedding the 
culture of worklessness onto children. The result is a spiral of 
deprivation that is unbroken.

  It is difficult to shift aspirations. Some families have no experience of 
anything but benefits which can lead to a lack of aspiration to work. 
This needs to be challenged and people need to be equipped to utilise 
the services available to them to move off benefits and into work. 

  Public Transport can be expensive and unreliable. There are also 
issues around accessing Public Transport particularly after 6.00pm 
limiting peoples ability to work shifts etc. Residents also perceive there 
to be a lack of transport, this prevents them for looking for work outside 
of their areas. 

  Halton needs to attract more high value / waged employment. There 
also needs to be more self employment help. Whole package needs to 
be looked at so people have:

o The skills to move into employment.  
o Access to decent and affordable childcare.  
o Access to support is available in the transition from benefits and 

employment and for a short period during employment in the 
early stages.

  There is too much focus on academic qualifications; it is important that 
children have access to cultural opportunities and character building 
experiences. Employers therefore need to put greater emphasis on 
volunteering and life experience, rather focusing solely on qualifications 
when selecting applicants. 

  There is limited access to bank accounts and affordable credit. An 
opportunity could be to promote the importance of bank accounts 
which may encourage service users to use other channels to borrow 
money if needed. This may help families in poverty ensure they are not 
paying back more than they should be and that they can afford and 
avoids the use of "loan sharks" where people repay far more than they 
have borrowed, further pushing them into poverty. 

  Not all services are being accessed by those who need them most. 
Reasons include lack of awareness, transport, services not meeting 
needs of those in poverty. There is also the issue of culture and 
attitudes of those in poverty and within service – e.g. sometimes school 
provision for those living in poverty is stigmatised (FSM).

  Opportunity to make better use of services in Halton – e.g. mini-buses 
not used during holiday periods, Children’s centres not open at 
weekends

Page 98



 - 41 - 

8. Governance 

Leadership and Governance in Halton

The child and family poverty agenda in Halton has strong senior level 
commitment from the council and our partners.

The Halton Child & Family Poverty Group  

A Child & Family Poverty Group was established by Halton Borough Council last 
Spring upon the Act coming into force. Its role was to oversee the delivery of the 
Child Poverty Needs Assessment. This group has now been expanded to 
include senior level officials from both the borough council and partner 
organisations; including those named as having a duty to cooperate in the Child 
Poverty Act, such as the Primary Care Trust, Police and Jobcentre Plus.  It is 
part of the Halton Strategic Partnership (LSP) structure and is currently chaired 
by the council’s Operational Director for Policy & Performance, who is also its 
lead for Child & Family Poverty. The Halton Borough Council executive board 
member for Children, Young People and Families, Councillor John Swain, has 
accepted the inclusion of the child and family poverty issue within his portfolio, 
demonstrating the high priority and strategic commitment to the deployment of 
resources on measures to reduce and mitigate child poverty in Halton.
The Steering Group is responsible for taking forward the key messages and 
next steps from this Child and Family Poverty needs assessment and will 
oversee the development of Halton’s Child and Family Poverty Strategy.  
To ensure accountability, the Group will regularly report on progress on the 
development of the strategy and its implementation to the Halton Strategic 
Partnership, Halton Borough Council’s Executive Board and Halton Children’s 
Trust, enabling elected members to exercise their scrutiny role.  

LCR Leadership and Governance

Child and Family Poverty Commission 

Chief Executive’s of the LCR Local Authorities and LCR Cabinet agreed to 
establish a Liverpool City Region Child and Family Poverty Commission to 
formalise the City Region’s high level commitment to tackling child and family 
poverty.  The Commission will act as a conscience for the work across the City 
Region and as a focus.

Membership

Membership of the Commission will involve strong leaders and influencers on 
this agenda. Frank Field MP for Birkenhead, as well as leader of the national 
Independent Review of Poverty and Life Chances will chair the LCR 
commission. Other membership will involve Executive Members from each city 
region council – representing both Children’s Services and Economic 
Development and chief officials from the police, health and the Community and 
Voluntary Sector.

This arrangement will ensure that all local authorities have a representative to 
raise issues and communicate key messages; there will also be thematic 
linkages with local areas through the presence of health, police and CVS.

Page 99



 - 42 - 

Officer’s Forums 

The City Region has established two working groups to provide operational and 
analytical support to enable the Commission to fulfill its role.  These groups are: 

 Child and Family Poverty Data Group and 

 Child and Family Poverty Advisory Group. 

Appendix Four illustrates the overall governance structure for Halton and the 
City Region.  

(For further information on the role of the LCR Child and Family Poverty 
Commission refer to LCR Child and Family Poverty Needs Assessment.)  

Page 100



 - 43 - 

9. Next steps  

Next Steps

This needs assessment has been conducted during a time of significant policy 
and fiscal change. It will not be until the Local Government Finance Settlement 
in December 2010 that the council will have a full understanding of what 
resources will be available to it in the forthcoming years. The outcome of this 
settlement will have significant implications for future service delivery.

The next stage of the process is to develop a Child and Family Poverty Strategy 
which will outline how the issues raised in this needs assessment will be 
addressed. The Strategy will be launched in April 2011 which provides an 
opportunity for the implications of the Finance Settlement to be taken into 
account. The resulting action plan will provide the detail of how the gaps in 
service provision can be tackled with the resource available. 

The Strategy will be the key mechanism for transforming services and targeting 
investment to where it is most needed.

Page 101



 - 44 - 

Local Authority Child 
Poverty Strategy 

(March 2011) 

Other Local Authority Strategies and 
assessments, including: Children and 
Young People’s Plan, Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment, Childcare Sufficiency 
Audit, Homeless Strategy 

Sustainable Community Strategy

City Region Child and 

Family Poverty Strategy 
(March 2011) 

Other City Region Strategies and 
assessments, including: Employment 
and Skills Strategy, Local Economic 
Needs Assessment, Local Enterprise 

Partnership

National Child Poverty 

Strategy
(To be informed by the Review of 

Poverty - December 2010 and 

launched in March 2011) 

City Region 

and Local 
Authority

Child and 

Family
Poverty

Needs

Assessments
(December

2010)

Appendix 1: Supporting Documentation

Relationship between National, City Region and Local Strategies

P
a
g
e
 1

0
2



 - 45 - 

Appendix 2 

Partner Engagement – 
Consulted on the local 
child and family poverty 
needs assessment

Member of Halton 
Child & Family 
Poverty Group 

Key Delivery Partner 
for Halton’s Child & 
Family Poverty 
Programme

To be engaged with in 
the future

Police* 

Youth Offending 
Team*

Probation Service* 

Local Transport 
Authority*

Primary Care Trusts 
and Strategic Health * 

Strategic Health 
Authority*

Jobcentre Plus* 

Children

Parents

Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Young 
People and Families 

P
a
g
e
 1

0
3



 - 46 - 

Children & Young 
Peoples Services - 
HBC

Childcare Providers 

Connexions Service 

HBC Employment & 
Economic Dev.  

Registered Social 
Landlords

Fire & Rescue 
Service

Halton Credit Union 

Community & 
Voluntary Sector in 
Halton

Halton Citizens 
Advice Bureau 

HBC Welfare Rights 
Team

Halton’s Children 
Centres

Halton & Warrington 
Trading Standards 

HBC Policy Team 

* Statutory Partner

P
a
g
e
 1

0
4



REPORT TO:    Employment, Learning, Skills and 
 Community Policy and Performance Board 

 
DATE:  7th March 2011  
 
REPORTING OFFICER:  Strategic Director Environment and  
 Economy  
 
SUBJECT:  Work Priorities 2011/12  
 
WARDS:  All  
 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present proposed work priorities in 

respect of Employment Learning and Skills agenda for the next financial 
year. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That 
 

(1) Members consider the work priorities presented for 2011/12. 
 
  

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1 It is felt that Members would find it useful if a summary of key priorities 

for the year ahead was presented for discussion at the meeting. 
 
3.2 It is proposed that the Operational Director for Employment, Economic 

Regeneration and Business Development will provide a verbal report to 
Members outlining key work areas over the next 12 months. 

 
3.3 The Areas to be discussed will include: - 
 
1)  Maximising Single Programme Opportunities; 
2)  Focus On Employer Facing Services; 
3)  Halton Employment Partnership; 
4)  Construction Halton; 
5a)  Science Halton; 
5b)  The Science Halton Routeway; 
6)  Other Opportunities e.g. Regional Growth Fund; ERDF Business  
 Support Programme. 

 
4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1    Further details on the policy implications arising out of the above work 

areas will be provided at the meeting  
 

Agenda Item 6dPage 105



 
5.0 OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1    Not applicable 
 
 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
6.1 Children and Young People in Halton 
 
6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton 
 
 The verbal report at the meeting will set out proposed work priorities 

which will support this agenda. 
 
6.3 A Healthy Halton 
 
6.4 A Safer Halton 
  
6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 
7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 

 
 None Identified 
 
 
8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 

 
None Identified 
  

 
9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
 
  
 
 

 

Document 
N/A 

Place of Inspection Contact Officer 
 

Page 106



 

Page 107



 

REPORT TO: Employment, Learning and Skills  
& Community Policy & Performance Board  

 
DATE: 7th March 2011     
 
REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director Resources 
 
SUBJECT: Performance Management Reports for Quarter 

3 of 2010/11 
  
WARDS: Boroughwide  
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 

To consider and raise any questions or points of clarification in respect 
of performance management reports for the third quarter of 2010/11, to 
December 2010.  The report details progress against service 
objectives/ milestones and performance targets, and describes factors 
affecting the service for: 
 

• Enterprise  & Employment and Adult Learning & Skills Development 

• Community Services namely Library Services & other Culture & 
Leisure Services 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDED: That the Policy and Performance Board 
 

1) Receive the third quarter performance management report;  
 
2) Consider the progress and performance information and raise 

any questions or points for clarification; and   
 

3) Highlight any areas of interest and/or concern where further 
information is to be reported at a future meeting of the Policy 
and Performance Board.  

 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Directorate Overview reports and associated individual Departmental 

Quarterly Monitoring reports have been previously circulated via a link 
on the Members Information Bulletin to allow Members access to the 
reports as soon as they become available. These reports will also 
provide Members with an opportunity to give advanced notice of any 
questions, points raised or requests for further information, to ensure 
the appropriate Officers are available at the Board Meeting. 

 
3.2 Where a Department presents information to more than one Policy & 

Performance Board some reconfiguration of the reports has been 
actioned to reflect Board responsibilities as shown in the following 
papers. 

 

Agenda Item 7aPage 108



 

3.3 The departmental objectives provide a clear statement on what the 
services are planning to achieve and to show how they contribute to 
the Council’s strategic priorities. Such information is central to the 
Council’s performance management arrangements and the Policy and 
Performance Board has a key role in monitoring performance and 
strengthening accountability. 

 
3.4 For 2010/11 direction of travel indicators have also been added where 

possible, to reflect progress for performance measures compared to 
the same period last year.  

 
4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no policy implications associated with this report.  
 
5.0  OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no other implications associated with this report. 
 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
6.1 Departmental service objectives and performance measures, both local 

and national are linked to the delivery of the Council’s priorities.  The 
introduction of a Directorate Overview report and the identification of 
business critical objectives/ milestones and performance indicators will 
further support organisational improvement.  

 
6.2 Although some objectives link specifically to one priority area, the 

nature of the cross - cutting activities being reported, means that to a 
greater or lesser extent a contribution is made to one or more of the 
Council priorities.   

 
7.0      RISK ANALYSIS 
 
7.1 Not applicable. 
 
8.0      EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
8.1      Not applicable. 
 
 
9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTIONS 100D OF 

THE   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
Document 
 Not applicable 

Place of 
Inspection 

Contact Officer 
 

 

Page 109



Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / 
Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 1 of 20 

 Departmental Quarterly Monitoring Report 

 

Directorate:  Environment & Economy 
   

Department:  Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development 
   

Period:  Quarter 3 - 1st October – 31st December 2010 

 

1.0   Introduction 

 

This quarterly monitoring report covers the Employment, Economic Regeneration 
& Business Development Department third quarter period up to 31st December 
2010. It describes key developments and progress against ‘key’ milestones and 
performance indicators for the service. 
 
The way in which the traffic lights symbols and direction of travel indicators have 
been used to reflect progress to date is explained within Appendix 8. 

 

2.0   Key Developments 

 
Adult Learning and Skills Development 
 
Adult Learning 
 
For the  new academic year (Starting in Qtr3): 

• 1335 individual learners (equating to 1916 enrolments) were on an adult learning 
programme.  Of these: 

o 18.05% had no previous qualifications;  
o 24.86% had not been involved in learning in the previous two years;  
o 14.46% had disclosed a disability;  
o 37.45% reported they wanted additional help with literacy, number 

and/or ICT;  
o 31.09% were male;  
o 4.27% were BME learners; and  
o 23.49% of all enrolments came from residents from Halton’s LSOAs.   

• 347 Skills for Life assessments were completed and, from these, 76 learners 
were referred to a Skills for Life learning programme, 29 to the Employability 
Skills Programme and 93 to the HEP Award programme.   

• 71 City and Guilds Level 1 and Level 2 qualifications were achieved in this 
quarter. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / 
Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 2 of 20 

Neighbourhood Learning in Deprived Communities  (NDLC)Grant 
 

• 10 community projects in receipt of NLDC funding submitted progress reports for 
delivery up to the end of December 2010, which showed: 

a) 105 enrolments up to December 2010 
b) 45 learners are involved in volunteering within the local community 

 
The 10 projects sit with the following organisations: 

• Action for Blind People 

• Four Estates Ltd  

• Halton Citizens Advice Bureau 

• Halton Women’s Aid Association 

• Halton Sports Partnership 

• Mind Halton 

• Open Door and HTTK Community Projects 

• Vision Support 

• Voluntary Sector Counselling Partnership  

• Windmill Hill Community Forum Ltd 
 

Sector Initiatives  

• The Halton Employment Partnership - Tesco provided the final job statistics 
following further recruitment of individuals who had previously been interviewed 
by Tesco but who had been in a ‘on hold’ status. The total number of jobs is 422 
of which 73% were Halton residents (with a 60:40 split between Widnes: 
Runcorn). Also during Q3, contact was made with the Venture Fields developer 
and with the potential developer at 3MG (i.e. who would be developing 
warehouse facilities on behalf of customer number 2). It is hoped that HEP can 
assist both with future skills and recruitment support. 

 

• Skills for the Science, Technology & Advanced Manufacturing (STAM) – the 
STAM working group is made up of a range of partners including Education 
Business Partnership, sector skills councils, Connexions, HPIJ, Riverside 
College, Bankfield Specialist Science College, HBC (Aim Higher, Business 
Development, Adult Learning & Skills, Education Business Partnership) and 
Skills Funding Agency. During Q3 presentations of the Science Halton Routeway 
were shared with a number of key groups including the EBP Forum, the 
Foundation Learning Group, the Employment, Learning & Skills Specialist 
Strategic Partnership, Riverside College Strategic Management Team and the 
14-19 Partnership. Feedback has been very positive. 

 

• Construction Employment Integrator project (Construction Halton)  
 

Section 106 Protocol 
Preparations are underway to submit a Section 106 Protocol, for consideration by 
the Development Control Committee in February/March 2011.  If adopted, the 
Protocol will apply to all major developments in the borough, typically comprising 
10 residential units or more, and for non-residential developments covering an 
area of 1,000 m2.   
 
 

Page 111



Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / 
Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 3 of 20 

The Protocol will be seeking to establish voluntary agreements with developers 
and their sub contractors for the delivery of planning obligations,  aimed at 
maximising employment opportunities for groups in Halton experiencing 
difficulties accessing the local labour market.  
 
Skills Forecasting Tool 
Tender documentation for securing a skills forecasting tool that will assist in 
forecasting the jobs and training opportunities arising from future construction 
work in the borough, has been finalised and a request for quotations will be 
published in January, 2011.  
 
The purchase will be jointly funded by Halton and Wirral council under a 
partnership agreement.  It was hoped that Liverpool and Sefton Council would be 
partners in the purchase, however, they have chosen to withdraw from the 
proceedings. 
 
3MG – A5300 Link Road 
The council has entered into an agreement with a private developer, whereby, in 
exchange for council land, they will procure the necessary infrastructure for 3MG 
and the A5300 link road. Example targeted recruitment and training (TRT) tender 
documents are being prepared for consideration by the developer, for inclusion in 
their tender. 
 
Targeted Recruitment & Training (TRT)  Workflow System 
A presentation of a Web based  TRT Workflow system, developed by the North 
East Improvement and Efficiency Partnership, to manage public sector 
construction employment and training opportunities in the North East, has been 
arranged in January 2011.  The system is currently being used by a number of 
LA’s in the NE, to capture and manage opportunities both at an individual LA 
level and at a wider regional level. Colleagues from the NE will visit Halton to 
demonstrate the system.  
 
Procurement/Planning Policy Workshop 
A workshop, hosted by the Manchester Metropolitan University, has been 
arranged in January, 2011. The workshop is aimed at professional staff involved 
in procurement policy, major public procurement, planning policy and 
development control on major projects to obtain information on the legal and 
policy issues and good practice involved in using public sector leverage to secure 
targeted recruitment and training and supply-chain opportunities. It is anticipated 
that the representatives from each authority will be accompanied by the 
economic development staff involved in delivering Construction Halton type 
activity. Staff from the council’s Procurement, Planning, Legal and Employment 
Economic Regeneration & Business Development departments will be attending. 
 
Working Ventures Rollout Group Meeting 
Halton will be hosting the next meeting of the Working Ventures Roll Out Group 
in February 2011.  The Group comprises local authority practitioners from around 
the UK who are using TRT as part of their procurement and planning policy to 
deliver community benefits to their residents.  

 

Page 112



Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / 
Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 4 of 20 

• Business Perceptions Survey - 250 local businesses were interviewed as part 
of the 2009/10 Business Perceptions Survey. In addition, a range of other 
agencies and providers were consulted as part of the process. These included 
HPIJ, Riverside College, the Halton Employment Partnership and Jobcentre 
Plus. In addition, a number of small employers have been supported with 
training. 

 
Enterprise & Employment 
 
Liverpool City Region Future Jobs Fund (FjF). The number of FjF jobs approved 
to 31/3/2011 is 243 and 201 had been filled by the end of December 2010. The 
remaining 42 jobs must be filled by 18/3/2011, a Jobs Fair has been arranged for 
27/1/11 at the St George’s Hall in Liverpool to recruit to the 1300 jobs across the 
Liverpool City Region. 
 
Halton People into Jobs (HPiJ) on behalf of the 14-19 Partnership is co-ordinating 
the drafting and submitted an ESF Not in Education, Employment or Training 
(NEET) ITT to Young Persons Learning Agency to support 260 young people aged 
14-18 years that are NEET or at risk of becoming NEET, covering the period April 
2011 – December 2013. The value of the bid in Halton is £572,192. The tender was 
submitted on 8/12/10 and the announcement date is 24.1.11. 
 

3.0   Emerging Issues 

 

Adult Learning and Skills Development 
 

• As the Working Neighbourhoods Fund (WNF) draws to a close, the future 
priorities for the department need to be considered and costed.  

 

• The Science Halton Routeway will go live in Q4 www.sciencehalton.com. 
 

• Construction Halton – the purchase of a Targeted Training & Recruitment 
Workflow System will take place in Q4. This will tie together all elements of the 
construction employment integrator across the various departments in the 
council. 

 

• Skills Funding Agency allocations for Adult Safeguarded Learning should be 
issued in Q4 and will determine future staffing and service levels. 

 
Enterprise & Employment 
 

1. Department for Work & Pensions - Work Programme 
 

HPIJ has forged links with 8 of the 16 Prime Contractors that have been 
shortlisted to deliver the new ‘Work Programme’ across Merseyside including 
Halton. The ITT documents were published in December 2011 with a 
submission date of 14/2/11. Several of the bidders are keen to work with HPIJ 
and the service is responding to information requests. 

Page 113



Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / 
Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 5 of 20 

 
2. Jobcentre Plus District Management Re-organisation 

 
Jobcentre Plus have announced a restructure of the Districts within the North 
West, effective from 1/4/2011, that will result in the current 9 districts reducing 
down to 4 districts. The Merseyside District will include Halton, whilst Cheshire 
& Warrington will become part of the Manchester District. The reorganisation will 
impact on the current partnership arrangements with Jobcentre Plus, however, 
the new management arrangements will not be known until January 2011. 

 
3. Department of Work & Pensions - New Enterprise Allowance Scheme 

 
Jobcentre Plus Merseyside District has been identified as a ‘trailblazer’ to pilot 
the introduction of the New Enterprise Allowance Scheme from 1 February 2011 
with a national rollout planned for October 2011. Following representations from 
Jobcentre Plus and Liverpool City Region partners, DWP have agreed that 
Halton will be included in the ‘trailblazer’. The scheme will provide customers 
that have been claiming Jobseekers Allowance for a minimum of 6 months that 
move into self-employment with an allowance of £65 per week for 26 weeks 
reducing to £32.50 per week for a further 26 weeks and those that continue to 
trade beyond 52 weeks will be able to apply for a 3 year low interest loan of up 
to £1,000. The full details of the scheme are yet to be released, however, there 
are outstanding key issues for DWP to finalise including the provision of self 
employment advice and on-going support to customers and the commissioning 
of an organisation to manage the loan fund. 

 

4.0   Service  Objectives / milestones 

 

4.1   Progress against ‘key’ objectives / milestones 

 

Total 10 
 

8 
 

2 
 

0 

 

Of the remaining 10 key objectives for the service, 2 are relating to a construction 
investors handbook and the future of Halton Employment Partnership may not be 
delivered within the original planned time-scale. 
 
For further details of all key objectives / milestones are included in Appendix 1.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / 
Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 6 of 20 

4.2   Progress against ‘other’ objectives / milestones 

 

Total 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

 

There are presently no objectives/ milestones of this type identified for this service. 

 

5.0   Performance indicators 

 

5.1   Progress Against ‘key’ performance indicators 

 

Total 7 
 

6 
 

0 
 

0 

 

For further details please refer to Appendix 2.  
 
Please note that the total also includes 1 indicator for which information is currently 
unavailable.   

 

5.2   Progress Against ‘other’ performance indicators 

 

Total 19 
 

12 
 

1 
 

0 

 

Although the number of inward investment enquiries is higher than that at the 
same time in 2009/10, the commercial property market remains depressed and the 
service is unlikely to achieve the 2010-11target.  
 
For further details please refer to Appendix 3.  
 
Please note that the total also includes 6 indicators for which information is 
currently unavailable.   

 

6.0   Risk Control Measures 

 

Please refer to Appendix 4 given uncertainties over future funding. 

 
 
 

Page 115



Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / 
Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 7 of 20 

7.0   Progress against high priority equality actions 

 

There are no High Priority Equality Actions for this area. 

 

8.0   Data quality statement 

 

The author provides assurance that the information contained within this report is 
accurate and valid and that every effort has been made to avoid the omission of 
data. Where data has been estimated, has been sourced directly from partner or 
other agencies, or where there are any concerns regarding the limitations of its use 
this has been clearly annotated. 

 

9.0   Appendices 

 

Appendix 1   Progress Against ‘key’ objectives / milestones 

Appendix 2   Progress against ‘key’ performance indicators 

Appendix 3   Progress against ‘other’ performance indicators 

Appendix 4   Progress against risk control measures 

Appendix 5   Financial statement 

Appendix 6   Explanation of use of symbols 

 
 

Page 116



Appendix 1:   Progress Against ‘key’ objectives / milestones 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 8 of 20 

Ref  Objective 

EEB 2 Foster enterprise and entrepreneurship in order to grow an enterprise culture in Halton.    

 

Milestones 
Progress 

Q 3 
Supporting Commentary 

Launch expanded Enterprise Academy by Sep 2010  
 

 
Halton Chamber of Commerce & Enterprise are delivering the 
expanded Enterprise Academy & Aftercare Programme. Halton 
Education Business Partnership and Young Enterprise have jointly 
appointed a Schools Enterprise Officer who is leading the Next 
Generation Entrepreneurs schools programme.  

Deliver Enterprise Week programme by Nov 2010 
 

 
Enterprising Halton & Halton Education Business Partnership Events 
will be delivered during Enterprise Week i.e. 15-19 November 2010. 

Deliver expanded start up programme by Mar 2011 
 

The expanded start up programme is progressing well. During Q3 92 
new business enquiries were handled and 32 new businesses 
created, making a total of 402 enquiries and 109 new start ups since 
April 2010. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

1
7



Appendix 1:   Progress Against ‘key’ objectives / milestones 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 9 of 20 

Ref  Objective 

EEB 3 Reduce unemployment/worklessness by assisting people to secure employment. 

 

Milestones 
Progress 

Q 3 
Supporting Commentary 

Deliver permitted work placements in council 
department by Oct 2010 
 

 
There were 19 disabled people in permitted work placements in 
Council Departments during July – September 2010.  

Development of Employment Action Plans for each 
NM area by Jan 2011 
 

 
All Neighbourhood Action Plans have been developed and actions are 
being reviewed and updated on an ongoing basis and will be 
completed by the end of the project in March 2011. 

Double the number of council apprenticeships 
(against 09/10 out turn) by Jan 2011  
 

 
The Division has supported the recruitment of 5 new Graduate Interns 
during Q3, a total of 17 graduates have been offered project based 
work experience in the Council with 4 progressing into work with 
external organisations. There are currently 8 apprentices in Council 
Departments. With support from the National Apprentice Service the 
Department will be arranging a seminar for managers to promote 
apprenticeships in the Council including the conversion of existing 
Council employee aged 16-24 years who qualify for apprentice 
support and the recruitment of new apprentices.  
 

Finalise the Disabled and Carers Employment 
Strategy by Sep 2010 

 
The Disability Employment Network last met in September and has  
finalised the strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

1
8



Appendix 1:   Progress Against ‘key’ objectives / milestones 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 10 of 20 

Ref  Objective 

EEB 4 Raise workforce skill levels by reviewing and addressing the skills deficit in Halton. 

 

Milestones 
Progress 

Q 3 
Supporting Commentary 

Develop Construction Investors’ handbook by  
Dec 2010 
 

 
Whilst a Construction Investors’ Handbook is still an action for the 
project, discussions are still underway as to the format to take 
account of similar publications produced by other local authority 
construction projects. The project manager is in post until the end of 
Q4 so it is expected a draft will be available in Q4. 

Complete the Business Perceptions survey by  
Mar 2011 
 

 
The latest Business Perceptions Survey was completed in March 
2010. During Quarter 2 individual businesses who requested follow up 
support/training were contacted and this process will continue until 
Q4. A training subsidy of £1000 is available to those businesses 
looking for support. 

Secure future of Halton Employment Partnership by 
Mar 2011 

 
A review of all budgets and priorities was considered during Q3. Key 
decisions about future funding for the Halton Employment Partnership 
will be made in Q4. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

1
9



Appendix 2: Progress Against ‘key’ performance indicators 

 

Ref Description 
Actual 

2009/10  
Target 

2010/11 
Quarter 3 

Current 
Progress 

Direction 
of Travel  

Supporting Commentary 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 11 of 
20 

Cost & Efficiency 

EEB 
LI18 

Cost per job created and/or 
safeguarded to which the 
authority’s inward investment 
promotional activity has made 
a significant contribution. 
(Audit Commission ECR18d) 

£82.27  
 

£142.00 Refer to 
comment 

N/A N/A Reported annually at the year end 

 

Service Delivery 

EEB LI1  
Previously 
ER PI 01 

 

Number of local people into 
jobs 

374 300 
(WNF ends  
31/03/2011) 

507 
(Cumulative)  

 

135 people were supported into 
sustainable employment during Q3 with 
a total of 507 in the period since April 
2010.  

EEB LI2 
Previously 
ER PI 02 

Number of local people with 
disabilities into 
permitted/paid work  

38 *30 
*Target 
reduced 
from 75 

(WNF ends  
31/03/2011) 

 

24 
(Cumulative)  

 
 

 

The economic recession has continued 
to have a detrimental impact on the 
number of disabled people moving into 
work. 6 individuals with a 
disability/health condition were 
supported into jobs and 2 disabled 
people into paid permitted opportunities 
during Q3. A total of 24 disabled people 
into work since April 2010 against a 
revised target of 30. 

P
a
g
e
 1

2
0



Appendix 2: Progress Against ‘key’ performance indicators 

 

Ref Description 
Actual 

2009/10  
Target 

2010/11 
Quarter 3 

Current 
Progress 

Direction 
of Travel  

Supporting Commentary 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 12 of 
20 

EEB LI4 
Previously 
ER PI 04 

Number of learner 
enrolments  

3331 

 
3450 1916 

 
5346 

2009/10 
academic 

year 

 
 

For the Adult Learning & Skills 
Development Division, Q3 covers the 
new academic year, term 1 (August to 
December). Compared to the same 
period last year, the direction of travel 
for the number of enrolments onto 
courses is green (13.85% increase). 

EEB LI7 
Previously 
ER PI 07 

Contribution to the number 
of jobs created, as a direct 
result of the service/s being 
provided 

235 
Dec 09 

200 143 
(Cumulative)  

 

The Future Jobs Fund initiative has 
created 39 new jobs during Q3. In 
addition to 104 created Q1-Q2 i.e. total 
of 143. 

EEB LI9 
Previously 
ER PI 09 

New business start-ups and 
self -employment starts 

154 110 109 
(Cumulative)  

 

32 start ups in Q3 with a total of 109 
since April 2010. 

EEB 
LI16 
Previously 
MP LI13 

Urban Renewal: Outputs as 
set out in Succession Urban 
Renewal Strategy and 
Action Plan (% achieved) 
 

100 100 75% 
 

 

On track with revised WNF programme. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

2
1



Appendix 3: Progress Against ‘other’ performance indicators 

 

Ref Description 
Actual 

2009/10  
Target 

2010/11 
Quarter 3 

Current 
Progress 

Direction 
of Travel  

Supporting Commentary 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 13 of 20 

Service Delivery 

EEB LI5 
Previously 
ER PI 05 

Number of inward 
investment enquiries per 
annum 

119  
Dec 09 

200 125 
  

 

Unlikely to achieve the 2010-11 target, 
commercial property market remains 
depressed and is not likely to recover in 
the short term. 

 
 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

2
2



Appendix 4: Risk Control Measures 

 

Ref Risk Identified Treatment Measure Progress Supporting Commentary 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, Skills & Community PPB / Page 14 of 20 

ER 1 Impact of the global recession on local 
business 

Increased emphasis on 
business aftercare and the 
dissemination of information 
to the business community 

 
A key part of the business aftercare 
programme is delivered by the Mersey 
Partnership officer located in the 
municipal building. It is unclear what 
the future of this post is.  

ER 2 Impact upon service provision of 
anticipated reduction in core funding 

Review and evaluation of 
non-essential service 
delivery 

 
Management Team at it’s meeting on 
21 December 2010 gave an ‘in 
principle agreement’ to a 
Departmental Business Plan that will 
continue to provide core and non-
essential services in 2011/12. 
Management Team will consider a 
detailed Departmental business plan 
at the meeting on 22 January 2011. 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

2
3



Appendix 5: Financial Statement 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, 
Skills & Community PPB / Page 15 of 20 

 

EMPLOYMENT, ECONOMIC REGENERATION & BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
 
Revenue Budget as at 31st December 2010 
 

 Annual 
Budget 

 
 

£’000 

Budget To 
Date 

 
 

£’000 

Actual To 
Date 

 
 

£’000 

Variance To 
Date 

(Overspend) 
 

£’000 

Actual 
Including 

Committed 
Items 
£’000 

      

Expenditure      

Employees 5,126 3,706 3,536 170 3,542 
Repairs & Maintenance 2,586 1,939 1,931 8 2,586 
Energy & Water Costs 830 622 490 132 730 
NNDR 836 836 722 114 753 
Rents 1,054 873 923 (50) 1,104 
Other Premises Costs 89 89 88 1 88 
Marketing Programme 8 6 4 2 5 
Promotions 0 0 0 0 0 
Development Projects 85 15 24 (9) 44 
Supplies & Services 1,296 842 792 50 1,277 
Agency 196 118 94 24 186 
Capital Financing 1,609 0 0 0 0 
Asset Charges 1,074 0 0 0 14 
      
Total Expenditure 14,789 9,046 8,604 442 10,329 

      

Income      

Rent – Markets -867 -650 -653 3 -653 

Rent – Industrial 
Estates 

-979 -734 -700 (34) -700 

Rent – Commercial -519 -389 -353 (36) -353 

Sales -3 -2 -10 8 -10 

Fees & Charges -332 -192 -262 70 -262 
Reimbursements -438 -170 -232 62 -232 
Government grants -1,617 -1,174 -1,258 84 -1,258 
Recharges to Capital -1,176 -349 -149 (200) -149 
      
Total Income -5,931 -3,660 -3,617 (43) -3,617 

      
Net Controllable 
Expenditure 
 

8,858 5,386 4,987 399 6,624 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



Appendix 5: Financial Statement 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, 
Skills & Community PPB / Page 16 of 20 

Recharges      
Premises Support 99 69 72 (3) 72 
Office Accommodation 36 0 0 0 0 
Property Recharges 2,911 1,871 1,871 0 1,871 
Transport 81 51 42 9 42 
Central Support Services 1,842 1,369 1,369 0 1,369 
Departmental Support 
Services 

0 0 0 0 0 

Accommodation 
Recharge 

-4,241 -3,135 -3,135 0 -3,135 

Support Service Recharge -3,133 -1,336 -1,336 0 -1,336 

      

Repair & Maintenance 
Recharges 

-2,471 -1,852 -1,852 0 -1,852 

School’s SLA Income -676 -676 -673 (3) -673 
Internal Fees (Schools) -77 -58 -42 (16) -42 
Net Total Recharges          -5,629       -3,697      -3,684               (13)            -3,684 
      
Net Departmental Total            3,229        1,689       1,303                386           3,028 

 
Comments on the above figures: 
 

In overall terms revenue spending to the end of quarter 3 is under budget.  

Regarding expenditure, employee costs are under budget for the period, which is mainly 
due to vacancies that exist within the Enterprise & Employment Team.  Also, external 
funding is being used to fund some posts. It is therefore anticipated that employee 
expenditure will be significantly below budget by year end. 

Energy and Water costs are falling due to the negotiation of new contracts and because of 
a refund for water at Widnes Market, this will result in a saving for the year. 

NNDR expenditure is below budget for the period due to a refund for Catalyst House but 
this has been partly offset by additional costs on empty properties on the Runcorn Industrial 
Estates and revised rating charges for both Grosvenor House and Rutland House. There 
will be a small net saving overall for this year. 

Regarding income, rents from Industrial Units and Commercial Properties are marginally 
lower than expected due to a number of vacant units .  This will be monitored closely 
however it is anticipated at this stage that there will be a shortfall in income on this account. 

There is currently a shortfall of income on Property Services for Recharges to Capital due 
to less work being undertaken on capital schemes than expected and it is anticipated that 
this will result in a shortfall for the year. 

At this stage, it is anticipated that overall revenue spending will be significantly below the 
departmental budget by year-end, which will contribute towards the £0.5m underspend 
target which has been set for the Environment and Employment Directorate.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125



Appendix 5: Financial Statement 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, 
Skills & Community PPB / Page 17 of 20 

EMPLOYMENT, ECONOMIC REGENERATION & BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

 

Local Strategic Partnership Schemes as at 31st December 2010 

 

 Annual 
Budget 
£’000 

Budget To 
Date 

£’000 

Actual To 
Date 

£’000 

Variance To 
Date 

(Overspend) 

£’000 

Actual 
Including 

Committed 
Items 

£’000 

      

Employment Outreach 60 45 53 (8) 53 

Prescription for Advice 0 0 0 0 0 

Halton ILM/Stepping 
Stones 

160 120 68 52 68 

Enterprise Development 386 290 246 44 246 

Enhanced Debt Advice 0 0 0 0 0 

Supported Employment 106 79 72 7 72 

Nbr’hood Employment 
Officers 

252 189 100 89 100 

Links 2 Work 25 19 20 (1) 20 

YMCA Skills for Life 30 22 21 1 21 

Inspiring Women 13 10 9 1 9 

Graduate Work 
Experience 

49 37 18 19 18 

NEET Employers 36 27 1 26 1 

Foundation 
Employment 

28 21 1 20 1 

Pre-level 2 Provision 288 216 181 35 181 

Halton Employment 
Partnership 

899 674 526 148 526 

Apprenticeship Support 258 194 95 99 95 

Business Parks 
Imprvmts 

19 14 3 11 3 

Partnership Co-
ordinator 

20 15 5 10 5 

      

Total Expenditure 2,709 1,972 1,419 553 1,419 

      

  

Page 126



Appendix 5: Financial Statement 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, 
Skills & Community PPB / Page 18 of 20 

Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) funding spending to the end of quarter 3 is below budget 
profile. 

Regular monitoring reports are sent to the LSP in respect of all LSP projects and any areas 
of concern are dealt with throughout the year by the LSP support team and individual 
project managers. Some variances against the budget are expected, as the LSP have 
deliberately over-programmed in order to ensure that the full allocation of Working 
Neighbourhood Fund grant is spent during the year. 

 
EMPLOYMENT, ECONOMIC REGENERATION & BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

 

Capital Projects as at 31st December 2010 

 

 2010-11 
Capital 

Allocation 

£’000 

Allocation 
To Date 
£’000 

Actual Spend 
To Date 
£’000 

Total 
Allocation 
Remaining 

£’000 

     

Multi-Funded 
Projects  

    

Widnes Waterfront 1,095 325 136 959 

Castlefields 3,138 1,020 1,026 2,112 

3MG 373 258 258 115 

     

LSP (Urban 
Renewal) Projects 

    

Property Purchase 147 19 0 147 

Contaminated Land 95 47 17 78 

HBC Projects     

Venture Fields 2,000 885 885 1,115 

Muni Building Refurb 2,469 1,597 1,408 1,061 

Runcorn TH Refurb 11 11 9 2 

Council Chamber 
Refurb 

100 80 76 24 

Golf Course 2,266 1,700 1,876 390 

Disabled Access 200 127 119 81 

     

Total Capital 11,894 6,069 5,810 6,084 

 

 

Page 127



Appendix 5: Financial Statement 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, 
Skills & Community PPB / Page 19 of 20 

Comments on the above figures: 

With regard to the three programmes detailed under the Multi Funded Projects header, 
there is continued change to the programmes and the costings/funding allocations are 
being continually updated. It is anticipated that the budgeted spend on both Venture Fields 
and Widnes Waterfront will be completed in this year. There is likely to be some slippage 
into next year on both the Municipal Building Refurbishment and Castlefields projects. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



Appendix 6: Explanation of Symbols 

 

Employment, Economic Regeneration & Business Development / Employment, Learning, 
Skills & Community PPB / Page 20 of 20 

 
 

 
Symbols are used in the following manner: 
 
Progress Objective Performance Indicator 
    

Green 
 

Indicates that the objective 
is on course to be 
achieved within the 
appropriate timeframe. 
 

Indicates that the annual target is 
on course to be achieved.   

Amber 
 

Indicates that it is 
uncertain or too early to 
say at this stage, whether 
the milestone/objective will 
be achieved within the 
appropriate timeframe. 
 

Indicates that it is uncertain or too 
early to say at this stage whether 
the annual target is on course to 
be achieved. 

 

Red 
 

Indicates that it is highly 
likely or certain that the 
objective will not be 
achieved within the 
appropriate timeframe.  
 

Indicates that the target will not 
be achieved unless there is an 
intervention or remedial action 
taken. 
 

Direction of Travel Indicator 
 
Where possible performance measures will also identify a direction of travel using 
the following convention 
 
Green 

 

Indicates that performance is better as compared to the same 
period last year. 
 

Amber 

 

Indicates that performance is the same as compared to the 
same period last year. 
 

Red 

 

Indicates that performance is worse as compared to the same 
period last year. 

N/A  Indicates that the measure cannot be compared to the same 
period last year. 

 

Page 129



Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community 
PPB / Page 1 of 13 

Departmental Quarterly Monitoring Report 

 

Directorate:  ADULT & COMMUNITY 

   

Department:  COMMUNITY SERVICES 

   

Period:  1st October to 31st December 2010 

 

1.0   Introduction 

 

This monitoring report covers the Community Services third quarter period up to period 
end 31st December 2010. It describes key developments and progress against key 
objectives and performance indicators. It also highlights exceptions for the service, that is,   
the ‘other’ objectives and performance indicators that are red or amber.  
 
The way in which the Red, Amber and Green, (RAG), symbols and Direction of Travel 
symbols have been used to reflect progress is explained within Appendix 6 

 

2.0   Key Developments 

 

Overall sports participation in Halton has shown a significant increase over the past 12 
months according to the latest Active People Survey from Sport England.  26.6% of adults 
over the age of 16 took part in sport at least three times a week for 30 minutes at 
moderate intensity in the year up to October 2010.  This places Halton in the top 10% best 
performing local authorities in England.  The figure for the previous year was 24.9%. 
 
Ditton Library has become the latest library to introduce a self service facility, allowing 
people to issue and return their own books the system frees up library staff to have more 
time to support people using the library, for example, with help getting online, answering 
enquiries, tracing their family history, searching for jobs, compiling CV’s and much more. 
 
Work has begun on the new Castlefield Community Centre.  An autumn completion is 
anticipated. 

 

3.0   Emerging Issues 

 

Budget 
Budget proposals 2011/12 mean that new structures for Community Centres, need to be in 
place for April.  The proposals will also see a reduction in library opening hours, closing at 
lunchtime on Saturdays and 7pm on week days at Kingsway Library. 
 
Library Relocation 
Plans are now being developed to relocate Runcorn Library (Egerton Street) into a 
refurbished Market building.  This will give the library a town centre location and allow an 

Page 130



Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community 
PPB / Page 2 of 13 

enhanced service to be developed in modern surroundings. 
 
New Sports Facility 
Talks are progressing with Widnes Sports Ltd for an exciting new sports facility at the 
former Widnes Recreation Club on Liverpool Road in Widnes.  As a centre of sporting 
excellence it will provide a first class facility to benefit both amateur and professional sport 
in Halton.  The site will be leased from the Council by Widnes Sports Ltd. 

 
 

4.0   Service  Objectives / milestones 

 

4.1   Progress against ‘key’ objectives / milestones 

 

Total 1 
 

1 
 

0 
 

0 

 

There is only 1 key objectives/milestones to report and this has been achieved.   
 
For details of the key milestone/objectives see appendix 1.    

 

4.2   Progress against ‘other’ objectives / milestones 

 

Total 14 
 

12 
 

0 
 

2 

 

There are 2 ‘other’ objectives /milestones that are red. These have been affected by 
external factors beyond the council’s control - one is on hold due to the Comprehensive 
Spending Review the other is due to the government withdrawing its commitment to fund 
the free swim initiative.  All ‘other’ milestones and objectives are on or above target.  For 
details see Appendix 2.   

 

5.0   Performance indicators 

 

5.1   Progress Against ‘key’ performance indicators 

 

Total 3 
 

2 
 

0 
 

1 

 

Only 1 indicator is failing in relation to ’Adults with Learning Disabilities in Employment’  
Details of all of these can be found in Appendix 3.  
 
 
 

Page 131



Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community 
PPB / Page 3 of 13 

5.2   Progress Against ‘other’ performance indicators 

 

Total 4 
 

4 
 

0 
 

0 

 

All other performance indicators are on target. Further details will be reported in quarter 4 

 

6.0   Risk Control Measures 

 

There are no high priority risk control measures. 

 

7.0   Data quality statement 

 

The author provides assurance that the information contained within this report is accurate 
and valid and that every effort has been made to avoid the omission of data. Where data 
has been estimated, has been sourced directly from partner or other agencies, or where 
there are any concerns regarding the limitations of its use this has been clearly annotated. 

 

8.0   Appendices 

 

Appendix 1   Progress Against ‘key’ objectives / milestones 

Appendix 2   Progress against ‘other’ objectives / milestones 

Appendix 3   Progress against ‘key’ performance indicators 

Appendix 4   Financial Statement 

Appendix 5   Explanation of use of symbols 

Page 132



Appendix 1:   Progress Against ‘key’ objectives / milestones 

 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 4 of 13 

 

Ref  Objective 

CS 1 Increase participation in sport and physical activity, thereby encouraging better lifestyles. 

 

Milestones 
Progress 

Q 3 
Supporting Commentary 

Increase number of new participants through Sport and 
Physical Activity Alliance delivery plan i.e. sports 
participation (This is part of a 3 year agreed programme 
with Sport England) Mar 2011 (AOF2 & 3) 

 
In conjunction with a number of public, private and community 
organisations a number of activities have taken place aimed at 
attracting people not previously engaged in sport over the age of 16.  
These included a successful cricket scheme, table tennis, health 
walks, health advice to men and women and a variety of other taster 
sessions.   
 
Grant confirmed. This project will be extended for a further 12 months. 
A 12 month action plan will be produced. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
3



Appendix 2:    Progress Against ‘other’ objectives / milestones 

 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 5 of 13 

 

Ref  Objective 

CS 1 Increase participation in sport and physical activity, thereby encouraging better lifestyles. 

 

Milestones 
Progress 

Q 3 
Supporting Commentary 

 

Review and update the Sports Strategy and Facilities 
Strategy and begin their implementation during 2010/11 
Mar 2011 (AOF 2 & 3) 

 
 

On hold until after actions have been determined following the 
Comprehensive Spending Review 

Implement the Government Free Swim programme to 
ensure access to Under 16s and Over 60s Mar 2011 
(AOF 2 & 3) 

 
As previously reported, the government withdrew its commitment to 
fund the free swim initiative (60+ and 16 years and under), the 60+ 
initiative ended in Halton on 31st August, and the 16 and under 
finished on 31st October. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
4



Appendix 3:   Progress Against ‘key’ performance indicators 

 

Ref Description 
Actual 

2009/10  
Target 

2010/11 
Quarter 3 

Current 
Progress 

Direction 
of Travel  

Supporting Commentary 

 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 6 of 13 

Service Delivery 

NI 9 % of adult population (16+) 
say they have used their public 
library service during the last 
12 months 

46.6 47.4 47.3 
 

 

This is new to the Active Peoples 
Survey and although the indicator 
shows an improvement on last year 
because there is a margin of error of +/- 
4.4% this is effectively registered as 
staying the same or ‘no change’. 

NI 8 % of adult population (16+) 
participating in sport each 
week 

21.4 23.02 26.3 
 

 

Excellent results for Halton.   
Adult Participation in Sport 3 x 30 
minutes (Sport England PI) 
National  16.5% 
North West  17.7% 
Merseyside  17.8% 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
5



Appendix 3:   Progress Against ‘key’ performance indicators 

 

Ref Description 
Actual 

2009/10  
Target 

2010/11 
Quarter 3 

Current 
Progress 

Direction 
of Travel  

Supporting Commentary 

 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 7 of 13 

       Comparison with neighbouring 
authorities: 
Halton   21.1%  
St Helens  15.7% 
Sefton   17.1% 
Liverpool  17.9% 
Knowsley  15.8% 
Wirral   19.1% 
 
NI 8: In addition to the weekly 3 x 30 
minutes in sport and active 
recreation collected by Sport 
England, (as above), this measure 
includes light intensity sports, such 
as indoor and outdoor bowls. 
Halton’s performance compared to 
other local authorities is as follows: 
Halton   26.3%  
St Helens  20.7% 
Sefton   19.5% 
Liverpool  20.4% 
Knowsley  19.3% 
Wirral   24.1% 
 
Next update June 2011. 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
6



Appendix 3:   Progress Against ‘key’ performance indicators 

 

Ref Description 
Actual 

2009/10  
Target 

2010/11 
Quarter 3 

Current 
Progress 

Direction 
of Travel  

Supporting Commentary 

 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 8 of 13 

NI 146 
 

Adults with learning disabilities 
in employment 

9.14% 28% 7.8%  

 

 

There are a total of 32 clients in this 
category, which relates to paid work. 
Performance is lower than 2009/10. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

3
7



Appendix 4:  Financial Statement 

 
 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 9 
of 13 

COMMUNITY DEPARTMENT 
 
Revenue Budget as at 31st December 2010 
 
 
 

Annual  
Budget 

 
£’000 

Budget 
To Date 

 
 

£’000 

Actual 
To Date 

 
 

£’000 

Variance 

To Date 

(overspend) 
 

£’000 

Actual 
Including 

Committed 
Items 
£’000 

 

Expenditure 

     

Employees 8,348 6,285 6,260 25 6,320 
Other Premises 935 541 543  (2) 817 
Book Fund 242 135 135 0 137 
Hired & Contracted 604 415 417 (2) 614 
Promotions 420 271 275 (4) 372 
Other Supplies & Services 622 403 401 2 620 
Transport 95 71 72 (1) 76 
Leisure Management Contract 1,412 939 939 0 1,412 
Consumer Protection Contract 432 287 287 0 432 
Grants 623 579 582 (3) 615 
Other Agency 81 5 2 3 5 

Total Expenditure 
13,814 9,931 9,913 18 11,420 

      
Income      

Sales -468 -353 -345 (8) -345 
Fees & Charges -1,540 -1,120 -1,128 8 -1,128 
Rents -14 -12 -10 (2) -10 
Grants & Reimbursements -806 -573 -703 130 -703 

Total Income 
-2,828 -2,058 -2,186 128 -2,186 

      

Net Controllable Expenditure 
10,986 7,873 7,727 146 9,234 

      
Recharges      
Premises Support 937 200 207 (7) 207 
Support Services Recharge -1,701 44 44 0 44 
Asset Charges 2,133 0 0 0 0 
Net Total Recharges 1,369 244 251 (7) 251 

      

Net Departmental Total       12,355 8,117 7,978 139 9,485 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



Appendix 4:  Financial Statement 

 
 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 10 
of 13 

Comments on the above figures: 
 
Total Controllable Expenditure is £146,000 below budget profile for the third quarter of the financial 
year. This is primarily due to the securing of a new income stream during the current financial year, 
a Service Level Agreement with Halton Academy for their use of Brookvale Recreation Centre. The 
net gain, once the share of income has been paid to the contractor DC Leisure, is £100,000 for the 
year. This increased income target has been included in the 2011/12 revenue budget, although the 
in-year income was originally unbudgeted, and so will represent a budget saving in the current 
financial year.  
 
Employee costs are currently £25,000 below budget profile. This results from savings achieved 
above target in respect of vacant posts. Whilst a number of front-line vacant posts have recently 
been filled, it is realistic to assume that this spend will remain below budget for the year by 
approximately £20,000. It should be noted that these savings are in addition to the savings target for 
staff vacancies within the Communities Department of £260,000 for the full financial year. 
 
Non-staffing expenditure is generally in line with budget at this point in the year, and it is not 
anticipated that there will be any significant budget variances in these areas at the end of the 
financial year. 
 
Income is showing an over-achievement against budget profile to date of £128,000.  
This largely results from the £100,000 additional income relating to Brookvale Recreation Centre 
referred to above. 
One area of income which has had the propensity to fall short of the target in previous years is 
income from burials and cremations. The combined income target is £555,000 for the full year, and 
income is currently approximately £30,000 below the target to date. However, the shortfall is 
currently being matched by additional income from memorial sales, and it is not anticipated that 
there will be a significant income shortfall in relation to cemeteries and crematoria by the end of the 
financial year. 
 
At this stage, net Departmental expenditure is anticipated to be below budget by £120,000 at the 
end of the financial year. This results from a new income stream of £100,000 in relation to 
Brookvale Recreation Centre, and staff savings resulting from vacant posts of £20,000 above target. 
This will contribute towards the £500,000 underspend target which has been set for the Adults & 
Community Directorate.” 
 

 

Page 139



Appendix 4:  Financial Statement 

 
 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 11 
of 13 

Capital Projects as at 31st December 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Churchill Hall 
Work at Churchill Hall has taken place however this did not include the in tumescent strip. Further 
investigation will be followed up on this scheme. 
 
Access & Security Measures 
Costs have been incurred during quarter 3 and this scheme is expected to be fully spent as year 
end. 
 
Norton Priory Health & Safety  
Work has been completed and no further spending is expected. 
 
Increased Employment Opportunities 
Refurbishment work is expected to commence and this scheme is anticipated to be fully spent by 
year end. 
 
Stadium Minor Works 
Work has been completed for access & security and orders have been placed for work to the 
concourse area. This scheme is also expected to be fully committed by year end.  

 2010/11 
Capital 

Allocation 
£’000 

Allocation 
To Date 

 
£’000 

Actual 
Spend 

To Date 
£’000 

Allocation 
Remaining 

£’000 
 

Churchill Hall  
2 1 0 2 

Access & Security Measures 
50 40 23 27 

Norton Priory Health & Safety  
Increased Employment 
Opportunities 

22 
10 

22 
10 

21 
0 

1 
10 

 
Total Spending 

 
84 

 
73 

 

 
44 

 

 
40 

Page 140



Appendix 4:  Financial Statement 

 
 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 12 
of 13 

Local Strategic Partnership Funded Schemes as at 31st December 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual  
Budget 

 
£’000 

Budget 
To Date 

 
 

£’000 

Actual 
To Date 

 
 

£’000 

Variance 

To Date 

(overspend) 
 

£’000 

Actual 
Including 

Committed 
Items 
£’000 

 

Priority 1: Healthy 
Halton 

     

Sports Partnership 66 50 40 10 40 

Health & Physical Activity 43 32 16 16 16 

Alcohol Harm Reduction  430 323 233                90 233 

Enhanced Sports 78 59 10 49 10 

Sub Total  617 464 299 165 299 

      

Priority 4: Employment 
Learning & Skills 

     

Budgeting Skills Project 33 25 16 9 16 

Citizen’s Advice Bureau 86 65 39 26 39 

Sub Total 
 
Priority 5: Safer Halton 

119 90 55 35 55 

Youth Splash 114 86 66 20 66 

Blue Lamp 588 441 294 147 294 

Domestic Violence 95 71 56 15 56 

Prolific & Persistent 
Offenders 

46 35 23 12 23 

Sub Total  843 633 
 

439 194 439 

 
Overall Total 

 
1,579 

 
1,187 

 
793 

 
394 

 
793 

 
 
Comments on the above figures: 
 
Regular monitoring reports are sent to the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) 

in respect of all LSP projects and any areas of concern are dealt with throughout the year by the 
LSP support team and individual project managers. Some variances against the budget to date are 
expected, as the LSP have deliberately over-programmed in order to ensure that the full allocation 
of Working Neighbourhood Fund grant is spent during the year. 

 
 

Page 141



Appendix 5:  Explanation of Symbols 

 

Adult and Community/Community Services Q3 – 10-11 / ELS & Community PPB / Page 13 
of 13 

 
 
Symbols are used in the following manner: 
 
Progress Objective Performance Indicator 
    

Green 
 

Indicates that the objective is 
on course to be achieved 
within the appropriate 
timeframe. 
 

Indicates that the annual target is on 
course to be achieved.   

Amber 
 

Indicates that it is uncertain 
or too early to say at this 
stage, whether the 
milestone/objective will be 
achieved within the 
appropriate timeframe. 
 

Indicates that it is uncertain or too 
early to say at this stage whether the 
annual target is on course to be 
achieved. 

 

Red 
 

Indicates that it is highly likely 
or certain that the objective 
will not be achieved within 
the appropriate timeframe.  
 

Indicates that the target will not be 
achieved unless there is an 
intervention or remedial action taken. 
 

Direction of Travel Indicator 
 
Where possible performance measures will also identify a direction of travel using the 
following convention 
 
Green 

 

Indicates that performance is better as compared to the same period 
last year. 
 

Amber 

 

Indicates that performance is the same as compared to the same 
period last year. 
 

Red 

 

Indicates that performance is worse as compared to the same period 
last year. 

N/A  Indicates that the measure cannot be compared to the same period 
last year. 

 

Page 142


	Agenda
	3 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
	4 EXECUTIVE BOARD MINUTES
	EXB4APP

	5 SSP Minutes
	ELS SSP Minutes 7 Feb DRAFT

	6a Presentation - Construction Halton
	6c Halton Child & Family Poverty Strategy 2011-2013
	07 March 11 CHILD AND FAMILY POVERTY STRATEGY.pdf

	6d Update on ELS work priorities for the next financial year
	7a Quarter 3 monitoring reports
	EERB 10-11 Q3 Employment Learning Skills  Community PPB
	FINAL Community Services Q3 PPB  18 2 2011


